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B u s i n e s s  O v e r v i e w
Year Ended December 31,

IN MILLIONS EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA 1998 1997 1996

Net sales $1,089.0 $ 936.9 $ 695.3

Gross margin % 24.9% 23.8% 20.3%

Adjusted EBITDA(a) $ 177.2 $ 137.6 $ 71.9

Adjusted operating income %(b) 11.9% 10.9% 6.5%

Business acquisition and consolidation expenses $ 12.7 $ 25.3 $ 42.4

Net income (loss) $ 50.4 $ 73.6 $ (19.2) 

Adjusted net income(c) $ 59.2 $ 47.6 $ 13.8

Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 1.24 $ 1.74 $ (0.58)

Adjusted diluted earnings per share(c) $ 1.43 $ 1.17 $ 0.48

(a) Earnings before business acquisition and consolidation expenses, other income, interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization. 

See also “Financial Condition and Liquidity” for a reconciliation of net income to EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA.
(b) Excludes business acquisition and consolidation expenses and other income.
(c) Excludes business acquisition and consolidation expenses and assumes a U.S. effective tax provision of 36%.

Hexcel closed its 1998 fiscal year with record sales, Adjusted operating income and Adjusted EBITDA. 
In the three years since the bottom of the aerospace cycle in 1995, the company has more than tripled its
sales and has established a solid record of profitability: gross margin increased from 19.2% to 24.9%,
Adjusted EBITDA improved from $29.4 million to $177.2 million, or a 503% increase, and Adjusted net
income increased more than 17 times from $3.3 million to $59.2 million. 

This dramatic turnaround was a result of three major factors. First, the company led the consolidation of
the advanced structural materials industry through its acquisitions of the Ciba and Hercules composite
materials businesses in 1996, and through the acquisition of the industrial fabrics business from Clark-
Schwebel in 1998. The company’s most recent acquisition diversifies Hexcel’s business beyond its base
in commercial aerospace and establishes Hexcel as a leading global materials supplier to the electronics 
industry. Second, commercial aerospace build rates significantly increased, which led to record deliveries 
for Boeing and Airbus during 1998. In 1998, there were 788 combined aircraft deliveries as compared 
to 380 in 1995. Finally, the company substantially completed a business consolidation program that 
eliminated excess capacity and integrated the Ciba and Hercules businesses. 

Although the company achieved record performance in 1998, there were significant global changes in some
of its markets which were triggered by the Asian economic recession. Deferred or canceled aircraft orders 
by Pacific Rim nations led to a reduction in Boeing’s projected build rates. While the company will still 
benefit from the combined estimated sustained production levels that should be well above 700 aircraft
annually, developing other existing markets and new applications for advanced structural materials will 
now be an important driver of future growth for Hexcel. Lower anticipated future commercial aircraft 
deliveries and Boeing’s well publicized profitability and production issues resulted in Hexcel’s customers
now emphasizing the need for material yield improvement and cost and inventory reduction throughout the
commercial aerospace supply chain.  

The events in Asia also impacted the markets for fiberglass electronic materials. Reduced Asian market
demand and weak exchange rates have contributed to certain Asian producers seeking to sell their products
in western markets. This has caused intense competition in the fiberglass fabric markets that the company 
serves. The impact of lower commercial aerospace orders and these competitive factors in the electronic
materials market are currently anticipated to result in the company’s net sales being flat in 1999 compared
to pro forma 1998 revenues. Responding to these market changes, both to remain competitive and sustain
profitability, Hexcel has intensified its efforts to improve efficiencies and reduce total cost through its Lean
Enterprise and value chain initiatives, as well as its business consolidation activities.

Management’s discussion and analysis
OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table summarizes selected financial data for continuing operations as of and for the five years ended December 31:

1998 1997 1996 1995 1994
S t a t e m e n t  o f  O p e r a t i o n s  D a t a :

Net sales $1,089,044 $ 936,855 $ 695,251 $ 350,238 $ 313,795
Cost of sales 817,785 714,223  553,942 283,148 265,367
Gross margin 271,259 222,632 141,309 67,090 48,428
Selling, general and administrative expenses 117,885 102,449 79,408 41,706 37,584
Research and technology expenses 23,624 18,383 16,742 7,618 8,201
Business acquisition and consolidation expenses 12,711 25,343 42,370 – –
Operating income 117,039 76,457 2,789 17,766 2,643
Interest expense 38,675 25,705 21,537 8,682 11,846
Other income, net – – (2,994) (791) (4,861)
Bankruptcy reorganization expenses – – – 3,361 20,152
Income (loss) from continuing

operations before income taxes 78,364 50,752 (15,754) 6,514 (24,494)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes 28,442 (22,878) 3,436 3,313 3,586
Equity in earnings of affiliated companies 517 – – – –
Income (loss) from continuing operations $ 50,439 $ 73,630 $ (19,190) $ 3,201 $ (28,080)
Income (loss) per share from

continuing operations
Basic $ 1.38 $ 2.00 $ (0.58) $ 0.21 $ (3.84)
Diluted $ 1.24 $ 1.74 $ (0.58) $ 0.20 $ (3.84)

B a l a n c e  S h e e t  D a t a :

Current assets $ 439,026 $ 387,050 $ 316,931 $ 128,055 $ 148,352
Non-current assets 965,135 424,536 384,805 102,547 95,105
Total assets $1,404,161 $ 811,586 $ 701,736 $ 230,602 $ 243,457

Current liabilities $ 219,444 $ 186,356 $ 188,812 $ 66,485 $ 171,307
Long-term liabilities 882,318 375,329 333,595 115,743 78,035
Stockholders’ equity (deficit) 302,399 249,901 179,329 48,374 (5,885)
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $1,404,161 $ 811,586 $ 701,736 $ 230,602 $ 243,457

O t h e r  D a t a :

Cash dividends per share – – – – –
Shares outstanding at year-end 36,329 36,856 36,561 18,091 7,301

A discussion of the impact of business acquisitions on 1998, 1997 and 1996 selected financial data is contained in Notes 1, 2 and 3 to the 
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Selected financial data
IN THOUSANDS EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA
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industry. Second, commercial aerospace build rates significantly increased, which led to record deliveries 
for Boeing and Airbus during 1998. In 1998, there were 788 combined aircraft deliveries as compared 
to 380 in 1995. Finally, the company substantially completed a business consolidation program that 
eliminated excess capacity and integrated the Ciba and Hercules businesses. 

Although the company achieved record performance in 1998, there were significant global changes in some
of its markets which were triggered by the Asian economic recession. Deferred or canceled aircraft orders 
by Pacific Rim nations led to a reduction in Boeing’s projected build rates. While the company will still 
benefit from the combined estimated sustained production levels that should be well above 700 aircraft
annually, developing other existing markets and new applications for advanced structural materials will 
now be an important driver of future growth for Hexcel. Lower anticipated future commercial aircraft 
deliveries and Boeing’s well publicized profitability and production issues resulted in Hexcel’s customers
now emphasizing the need for material yield improvement and cost and inventory reduction throughout the
commercial aerospace supply chain.  

The events in Asia also impacted the markets for fiberglass electronic materials. Reduced Asian market
demand and weak exchange rates have contributed to certain Asian producers seeking to sell their products
in western markets. This has caused intense competition in the fiberglass fabric markets that the company 
serves. The impact of lower commercial aerospace orders and these competitive factors in the electronic
materials market are currently anticipated to result in the company’s net sales being flat in 1999 compared
to pro forma 1998 revenues. Responding to these market changes, both to remain competitive and sustain
profitability, Hexcel has intensified its efforts to improve efficiencies and reduce total cost through its Lean
Enterprise and value chain initiatives, as well as its business consolidation activities.

Looking forward, the company has positioned itself for the future through the issuance of $240.0 million 
of Senior Subordinated Notes, due 2009, to solidify its long-term capital structure. Business plans 
are focused on adjusting the company’s cost and manufacturing capacity to earn attractive returns and 
on generating free cash flow to repay debt. Hexcel’s short-term goal is to generate $100 million of free 
cash flow, before taking into account the purchase of an equity interest in CS-Interglas, in the fifteen 
month period from October 1, 1998 to December 31, 1999. In the fourth quarter of 1998, the company
generated approximately $15 million in free cash flow before paying $19.0 million for its initial 43.6% 
equity interest in CS-Interglas, leaving approximately $85 million of the goal to be generated in 1999. 

B u s i n e s s  A c q u i s i t i o n s  

Over the last three years, the company has substantially expanded its size, through both internal growth 
as well as through acquisitions. During 1998, 1997 and 1996, the company acquired:

• certain assets and assumed certain operating liabilities of the industrial fabrics business from 
Clark-Schwebel, Inc. and its subsidiaries’ (“Clark-Schwebel”) on September 15, 1998, including 
interests in three joint ventures, one of which was acquired in December 1998 (the “Acquired Clark-
Schwebel Business”);

• the worldwide composites division of Ciba, including most of Ciba’s composite materials, parts and 
structures businesses, on February 29, 1996. The company subsequently acquired Ciba’s Austrian 
composites business on May 30, 1996, and various remaining assets of Ciba’s worldwide composites 
division at various dates through February 28, 1997 (the “Acquired Ciba Business”);

• the composite products division of Hercules Incorporated including Hercules’ carbon fibers and prepreg
businesses, on June 27, 1996 (the “Acquired Hercules Business”); and 

• the satellite business and rights to certain technologies from Fiberite, Inc., on September 30, 1997.

All of the above acquisitions were accounted for under the purchase method of accounting. Accordingly, 
the consolidated balance sheets, statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows include the 
financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the businesses acquired as of such dates and for
such periods that these businesses were owned by Hexcel.

Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business
On September 15, 1998, the company acquired certain assets and assumed certain operating liabilities from
Clark-Schwebel. The Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business is engaged in the manufacture and sale of high-
quality fiberglass fabrics, which are used to make printed circuit boards (“PCBs”) for electronic equipment
such as computers, cellular telephones, televisions and automobiles. The Acquired Clark Schwebel Business
also produces high performance specialty products for use in insulation, filtration, wall and façade claddings,
soft body armor and reinforcements for composite materials. The Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business 
currently operates four manufacturing facilities in the southeastern U.S. and has approximately 1,300 full
time employees. As part of this acquisition, Hexcel also acquired Clark-Schwebel’s equity ownership inter-
ests in the following three joint ventures, which are incorporated using the equity method of accounting:

• a 43.6% share in CS-Interglas AG (“CS-Interglas”), headquartered in Germany, together with fixed-price
options to increase this equity interest to 84.0%. Hexcel’s acquisition of the CS-Interglas equity interest
and related options was completed on December 23, 1998; 

• a 43.3% share in Asahi-Schwebel Co., Ltd. (“Asahi-Schwebel”), headquartered in Japan, which in turn has
its own joint venture with AlliedSignal Inc. in Taiwan; and

• a 50.0% share in Clark-Schwebel Tech-Fab Company (“CS Tech-Fab”), headquartered in the United
States.

CS-Interglas and Asahi-Schwebel are fiberglass fabric producers serving the European and Asian electronics
and telecommunications industries. CS Tech-Fab manufactures non-woven materials for roofing, construc-
tion and other specialty applications. The fixed-price options to increase the equity interest in CS-Interglas
revenues are, in the company’s opinion, significantly higher than their fair market value. Accordingly, 
the company does not currently anticipate exercising the options, at the stated price, before their 
expiration on December 31, 1999. The unconsolidated revenues in 1998 for these joint ventures were in
excess of $300 million. 

The acquisition of the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business was completed pursuant to an Asset Purchase
Agreement dated July 25, 1998, as amended, by and among Hexcel, Stamford CS Acquisition Corp., and
Clark-Schwebel (the “Asset Purchase Agreement”). Under the Asset Purchase Agreement, Hexcel acquired
the net assets of the acquired business, other than certain excluded assets and liabilities, in exchange 
for approximately $473 million in cash, including the $19.0 million paid on December 23, 1998. Hexcel
also agreed to lease $50.0 million of property, plant and equipment used in the acquired business from an
affiliate of Clark-Schwebel, pursuant to a long-term lease with purchase options. Refer to “Financial
Resources” for a discussion on acquisition financing.

Acquired Ciba Business
Hexcel acquired most of Ciba’s composite materials, parts and structures businesses on February 29, 1996,
Ciba’s Austrian composites business on May 30, 1996, and various remaining assets of Ciba’s worldwide
composites division at various dates through February 28, 1997. The Acquired Ciba Business is engaged 
in the manufacture and marketing of reinforcement fabrics and lightweight, high-performance 
composite materials, parts and structures for commercial aerospace, space and defense, general industrial
and recreation markets. 

The acquisition of the Acquired Ciba Business was consummated pursuant to a Strategic Alliance
Agreement dated as of September 29, 1995, among Ciba and Hexcel, as amended (the “Strategic Alliance
Agreement”). Under the Strategic Alliance Agreement, the company acquired the assets (including the
capital shares of certain non-U.S. subsidiaries) and assumed the liabilities of the Acquired Ciba Business,
other than certain excluded assets and liabilities, in exchange for: (a) 18,022 newly issued shares of Hexcel 
common stock; (b) $25.0 million in cash; (c) senior subordinated notes in an aggregate principal amount of
$37.5 million, with a fair value of $34.5 million; and (d) senior demand notes in an aggregate principal
amount equal to the cash on hand at certain of the non-U.S. subsidiaries included in the Acquired Ciba
Business. The total aggregate purchase price for the net assets acquired was approximately $209 million.

Management’s discussion and analysis
OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Management’s discussion and analysis
OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

24 25

Looking forward, the company has positioned itself for the future through the issuance of $240.0 million 
of Senior Subordinated Notes, due 2009, to solidify its long-term capital structure. Business plans 
are focused on adjusting the company’s cost and manufacturing capacity to earn attractive returns and 
on generating free cash flow to repay debt. Hexcel’s short-term goal is to generate $100 million of free 
cash flow, before taking into account the purchase of an equity interest in CS-Interglas, in the fifteen 
month period from October 1, 1998 to December 31, 1999. In the fourth quarter of 1998, the company
generated approximately $15 million in free cash flow before paying $19.0 million for its initial 43.6% 
equity interest in CS-Interglas, leaving approximately $85 million of the goal to be generated in 1999. 

R e c e n t  D e v e l o p m e n t s

During the first quarter of 1999, demand in most of the markets that Hexcel serves, including commercial
aerospace, has been in line with the company’s expectations. In addition, the company has continued to
make progress in its business consolidation and integration action plans. However, competitive conditions
in the global market for electronic fiberglass materials have remained intense, impacting sales volumes 
and margins to a greater extent than the company previously expected. Electronics market competitive 
conditions resulting from the Asian economic situation are also impacting the performance of Hexcel’s joint
ventures in Europe and Japan, reducing the amount of equity income that the company recognizes for these
joint ventures in its financial statements. As a result, despite higher net sales than in the fourth quarter of
1998, profitability in the first quarter of 1999 is anticipated to be lower than that in the prior quarter.

Also during the first quarter of 1999, Hexcel has continued the consolidation and integration of its global
reinforcement materials operations. On March 16, 1999, Hexcel expanded these actions, announcing its
plan to close its Cleveland, Georgia manufacturing facility. As a result, the company anticipates recording
in its first quarter financial statements approximately $3 million of business acquisition and consolidation
charges, primarily reflecting the costs of closing this facility, of which $1.8 million will be non-cash charges.
A further charge related to this plant closure of about $1 million is anticipated in the second and/or third
quarter of 1999. Hexcel remains focused on improving performance by continuing to reduce costs and
improving productivity through its Lean Enterprise initiatives. The company has substantially completed
the business consolidation actions that it announced in the fourth quarter of 1998 and continues to seek 
further opportunities to eliminate cost.



The 14% growth in pro forma net sales to the commercial aerospace market from 1997 to 1998 was 
largely attributable to increased sales of composite materials and reflects the increase in commercial aircraft 
build rates by the company’s two largest customers, The Boeing Company (“Boeing”) and Airbus Industrie
(“Airbus”). The increase also reflects an improvement in the engineered products segment’s shipments 
of retrofit interiors to airline customers. 

Approximately 35% and 36% of Hexcel’s 1998 and 1997 net sales, respectively, were identifiable as sales
to Boeing and related subcontractors. Of the 35% of sales attributable to Boeing and its subcontractors,
32% and 3% related to commercial aerospace and space and defense market applications, respectively.
Approximately 11% and 10% of Hexcel’s 1998 and 1997 net sales, respectively, were identifiable as sales
to Airbus and related subcontractors. Reported commercial aircraft deliveries by Boeing and Airbus
improved significantly in 1998, from a combined 557 aircraft in 1997 to 788 aircraft in 1998, including
559 and 229 deliveries from Boeing and Airbus, respectively. Depending on the product, orders placed with
Hexcel are received anywhere between one and eighteen months prior to delivery of the aircraft to the cus-
tomer. The company sells material for every model of commercial aircraft sold by Boeing and Airbus, with
sales per aircraft ranging from $0.2 million to over $1.0 million. Based on published projections, combined
deliveries for Boeing and Airbus are expected to peak at 913 in 1999, before declining to approximately
800 in 2000. As the company supplies its products ahead of the delivery of a commercial aircraft, it will
start to see the impact of reduced Boeing production rates by summer 1999. The company’s sales to region-
al and general aviation aircraft manufacturers remain robust.

During 1998, the company’s commercial aerospace customers started emphasizing the need for material
yield improvement and cost and inventory reduction throughout the industry’s supply chain. In response 
to these pressures, the company reduced the price of certain products in 1999. Further, the company is
aware that one customer is planning, in the third quarter of 1999, to substitute one of Hexcel’s premium
products for a lower cost, lower priced alternative product, which will also be provided by Hexcel. 
Although these changes impact the company’s profit margins, the company’s various cost reduction and 
efficiency improvement programs are focused on mitigating the impact in whole or in part. Meanwhile 
the company’s sales of products used to retrofit aircraft interiors continue to grow with a strong initial 
reception for its kit product which extends the size of overhead stowage bins in narrow aisle aircraft. 

Taking all of the above factors into account, the company currently anticipates that its net sales to the 
commercial aircraft market will show a moderate reduction in 1999 compared to 1998 pro forma net sales,
with the greater impact being seen in the second half of the year.

Space and defense pro forma net sales increased 44% from 1997 to 1998, reflecting an increase in sales 
of reinforcement products and composite materials to select military and space programs, as well as the 
company’s acquisition of Fiberite’s satellite business on September 30, 1997. The company currently 
anticipates that its net sales to space and defense applications will grow in 1999 over 1998 pro forma net
sales, but not as rapidly as was seen in 1998. 

In the last quarter of 1998, the company experienced cancellations of certain carbon fiber orders. The 
company believes that, in response to a significant shortage of carbon fiber supply in 1997, a number of the
company’s customers, particularly those in the space and defense market, purchased and/or ordered more
carbon fiber than they needed during 1997 and 1998. Now that carbon fiber supplies are more certain, 
customers are reducing their inventories and are therefore anticipating lower purchasing needs for 1999.
These factors resulted in surplus inventories throughout the supply chain, including Hexcel, at December
31, 1998 and a significant reduction in the anticipated carbon fiber production for 1999 as compared 
to 1998. The increase in worldwide carbon fiber capacity limits both the company’s ability to sell its 
short-term excess capacity to other markets and prices at which such surplus capacity can be sold. 

Despite these short-term impacts, the company still anticipates growth in carbon fiber sales in 2000 and
beyond as new military aircraft and launch vehicle programs, in both the U.S. and Europe, enter full-scale

Acquired Hercules Business
Hexcel acquired the assets of the composite products division of Hercules on June 27, 1996. The Acquired
Hercules Business, which manufactures carbon fibers and prepregs for commercial aerospace, space and
defense, general industrial and recreation markets, was purchased for $139.4 million in cash.

Acquired Fiberite Assets
On September 30, 1997, the company acquired from Fiberite its satellite business consisting of intangible
assets and inventory, and certain non-exclusive worldwide rights to other prepreg technologies, for 
$37.0 million in cash. The acquisition was substantially downsized from the original agreement whereby
the company had, subject to certain terms and conditions, committed to purchase selected assets and 
businesses of Fiberite for approximately $300 million. As a result of the downsized transaction, the 
company wrote-off $5.0 million of acquisition and financing costs to business acquisition and consolidation
expenses in 1997. In addition, the company expensed $8.0 million of acquired in-process research and 
technology purchased from Fiberite which is included in the 1997 business acquisition and consolidation
expenses. Substantially all of the $37.0 million purchase price, less the $8.0 million write-off of the acquired
in-process research and technology, was allocated to intangible assets. 

Further discussion and analysis of the company’s business acquisitions is contained in Notes 1, 2 and 3 to
the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

R e s u l t s  o f  O p e r a t i o n s

1998 Compared to 1997
NET SALES: Net sales for 1998 were $1,089.0 million, compared with net sales for 1997 of $936.9 million.
The results for 1998 include the results of the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business from the date of 
acquisition, September 15, 1998, through December 31, 1998. Excluding the results of the Acquired Clark-
Schwebel Business, 1998 sales were approximately $1,030.6 million, a 10% increase over 1997. The sales
growth was primarily due to strong sales of composite products to the commercial aerospace market, 
primarily in Europe, as well as to the space and defense markets. On a constant currency basis, 1998 sales
would not have been materially different than reported.

Pro forma net sales for 1998 and 1997 by product group and market segment, after giving effect to the
acquisition of the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business as if the transaction had occurred at the beginning of
the year, were as follows: 

Commercial Space & General
IN MILLIONS Aerospace Defense Electronics Industrial Recreation Total

1998 Pro Forma Net Sales
Reinforcement products $ 46.2 $ 26.4 $ 179.1 $ 101.2 $ 17.6 $ 370.5

Composite materials 468.0 89.6 – 57.4 38.6 653.6

Engineered products 194.9 11.2 – 4.5 – 210.6

Total $ 709.1 $ 127.2 $ 179.1 $ 163.1 $ 56.2 $1,234.7

57% 10% 15% 13% 5% 100%

1997 Pro Forma Net Sales
Reinforcement products $ 49.5 $ 13.9 $ 203.8 $ 130.1 $ 13.0 $ 410.3

Composite materials 403.9 64.2 – 63.9 53.4 585.4

Engineered products 169.8 10.2 – 1.4 – 181.4

Total $ 623.2 $ 88.3 $ 203.8 $ 195.4 $ 66.4 $1,177.1

53% 7% 17% 17% 6% 100%
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commercial aerospace growth has flattened. The company is, however, pursuing efforts to reduce its cost
structure and increase its productivity through its Lean Enterprise program, which was extended to all
U.S. locations in the latter part of 1998 and which will be extended to its European facilities in 1999. 
The expected improvements in cost and productivity will be offset by customer demand for reductions in
the costs of the products that they purchase from the company. 

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE (“SG&A”) EXPENSES: SG&A expenses were $117.9 million in 1998, or
10.8% of net sales. This compared to $102.4 million, or 10.9% of net sales for 1997. The aggregate dollar
increase in SG&A was primarily attributable to the increased sales volume in commercial aerospace and the
Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business. 

RESEARCH AND TECHNOLOGY (“R&T”) EXPENSES: R&T expenses were $23.6 million in 1998, or 2.2% of net sales.
This compared to $18.4 million, or 2.0% of net sales for 1997. The aggregate dollar increase in R&T was
attributable to additional expenditures in 1998 resulting from an increased commitment to R&T activities
and, to a lesser extent, the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business. 

OPERATING INCOME: Operating income increased from $76.5 million, or 8.2% of net sales, in 1997 to $117.0
million, or 10.8% of net sales, in 1998. The aggregate increase in operating income reflects the higher 
sales volume, improved gross margins, a $12.6 million decrease in business acquisition and consolidation
expenses and $7.6 million from the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business. Excluding business acquisition and
consolidation expenses, operating income as a percentage of sales increased from 10.9% in 1997 to 11.9%
in 1998.

INTEREST EXPENSE: Interest expense was $38.7 million, or 3.6% of net sales, for 1998 compared to $25.7 
million, or 2.7% of net sales, for 1997. The increase in interest expense was primarily due to the additional
financing required for the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business as well as working capital needs, and a 
$1.6 million write-off of capitalized loan fees relating to the company’s previous credit facilities. 

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES: The effective income tax rate for 1998 was 36%. For the year ended December
31, 1997, the benefit for income taxes was $22.9 million, which included a $39.0 million reversal of a U.S.
tax valuation allowance.

Prior to September 30, 1997, the company had fully provided valuation allowances against its U.S. net
deferred tax assets as there were uncertainties regarding the company’s ability to generate sufficient future
taxable income to realize these net deferred tax assets. On September 30, 1997, the company reversed 
its U.S. tax valuation allowance as it was more likely than not that these tax assets would be realized. 
As a result, excluding the $39.0 million U.S. valuation allowance reversal, no provision for U.S. federal
income taxes had been recorded for the first nine months of 1997 due to the utilization of net operating 
loss carryforwards. The company continues to reserve the balance of the net deferred tax assets of its
Belgium operations. 

NET INCOME: Net income for 1998 was $50.4 million or $1.24 per diluted share compared with $73.6 
million or $1.74 per diluted share for 1997. As part of the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business, net income
for 1998 includes $0.5 million of equity in earnings from affiliated companies. Pro forma net income, after
giving effect to the acquisition of the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business as if the transaction had occurred
at the beginning of the year, was $49.5 million. Excluding business acquisition and consolidation expenses
of $12.7 million and $25.3 million in 1998 and 1997, respectively, and assuming a U.S. effective 
income tax rate of 36% in 1997, net income would have been $1.43 and $1.17 per diluted share in 1998
and 1997, respectively. 

As of December 31, 1998 and 1997, there were 36.3 million and 36.9 million shares of Hexcel common
stock outstanding, respectively. See Note 13 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements for 
the calculation, including the number of shares used, of diluted net income per share.

production. The military market uses a higher percentage of advanced structural materials and higher value
products than the commercial market. The company is currently qualified to supply materials to a broad 
range of military aircraft and helicopters scheduled to enter full-scale production at the start of the 
next decade. These programs include V-22 (Osprey) tilt-roter, F-22 (Raptor), F/A-18E/F (Hornet), C-17
transport, European Fighter Aircraft (Typhoon), RAH-66 (Comanche) and NH90 helicopter.

Pro forma electronics net sales decreased 12% from 1997 to 1998. In the second and third quarters of 1998,
the electronics industry, including the company, experienced a worldwide reduction in sales volume, 
primarily resulting from inventory adjustments across the supply chain. Towards the end of the third 
quarter and into the fourth quarter of 1998, the company experienced increased order volume for woven
fiberglass products used in electronic PCB applications, suggesting an end to the inventory correction.
However, intense competition from manufacturers located in Asia continues to place pressure on volumes
and prices for these products. In light of market uncertainties, the company can not predict as to when these
conditions in the electronic market for woven fiberglass products may recover and therefore continues 
to pursue opportunities to reduce the cost of its products and enhance its ability to compete effectively. 
The company has been successful in partially offsetting these price reductions by obtaining lower raw 
material prices. Nevertheless, the company anticipates that its electronic net sales in 1999 will be less than
1998 pro forma net sales. 

Pro forma general industrial net sales for advanced structural materials decreased 16% from 1997 to 1998,
primarily reflecting a reduction in the level of soft body armor sales to various government agencies.
Nevertheless, the company anticipates that net sales to certain of the emerging markets for the company’s
products accumulated in the general industrial market will continue to grow in 1999 compared to 1998
pro forma net sales, with growth opportunities coming from ground transportation, architectural and civil
engineering, wind energy and soft body armor applications. This growth is currently anticipated to offset
the reduction in net sales in the commercial aerospace market.

Pro forma recreation net sales decreased 15% from 1997 to 1998, reflecting reduced customer demand for
certain products in this market, including, one particular customer who is changing the design of many 
of its athletic shoes to alternative materials. The company currently anticipates that its 1999 recreation 
market revenues will be at the same level as 1998.

Backlog for aerospace materials was $452.1 million as of December 31, 1998, a 5% decrease over backlog
as of December 31, 1997. The decrease in backlog reflects a number of factors, including a continuing 
trend toward shorter lead times and better supply-chain management by the industry overall. In light of 
changing conditions in the aerospace industry, twelve month backlog information may no longer be a 
meaningful trend indicator. The company continues to closely watch the economic situation in Asia, along
with overall aircraft orders and production trends, to monitor future sales. 

Backlog for the non-aerospace markets was $41.0 million as of December 31, 1998, compared to $43.5
million as of December 31, 1997. The decrease in backlog is primarily attributable to a decrease in orders
from customers in the recreation market. Customers in the electronics, general industrial and recreation
markets generally operate with little advance purchasing and thus, backlog is subject to certain fluctuations.
The Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business also operates with nominal backlog. The company’s backlog in the
non-aerospace markets for the next twelve months is therefore not necessarily a meaningful indicator of
future sales. 

GROSS MARGIN: Gross margin for 1998 was $271.3 million, or 24.9% of net sales, compared with $222.6 
million, or 23.8% of net sales, for 1997. Excluding the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business, 1998 gross 
margin was also 24.9%. The improvement in 1998 gross margin relative to 1997 is the result of higher sales
volume and the benefit from the company’s 1996 consolidation and restructuring program. While gross
margin for 1998 increased over 1997, on a quarterly trend basis, the company’s gross margin percentage
has leveled off as the company’s 1996 business consolidation program has approached completion and
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GROSS MARGIN: Gross margin for 1997 was $222.6 million, or 23.8% of net sales, compared with $141.3 
million, or 20.3% of net sales, for 1996. The improvement in 1997 gross margin relative to 1996 was
the result of higher sales volume, expansion of the company’s fibers capacity and continued advances in
manufacturing productivity resulting from the company’s consolidation and restructuring activities.
Product price changes were not a significant factor in the 1997 gross margin improvement.

The integration of the Acquired Ciba and Hercules Businesses into Hexcel, including the consolidation and
rationalization of manufacturing facilities and processes, is a primary objective of the business consolidation
program. While the company began to realize the productivity improvements in 1997 as a result of the 
program, these improvements will not be fully realized until 1999.

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE (“SG&A”) EXPENSES: SG&A expenses were $102.4 million in 1997, or
10.9% of net sales. This compares to $79.4 million, or 11.4% of net sales for 1996. The aggregate dollar
increase in SG&A was primarily attributable to the Acquired Ciba and Hercules Businesses. 

RESEARCH AND TECHNOLOGY (“R&T”) EXPENSES: R&T expenses were $18.4 million in 1997, or 2.0% of net sales.
This compared to $16.7 million, or 2.4% of net sales for 1996. The aggregate dollar increase in R&T was
attributable to the additional activity from the Acquired Ciba and Hercules Businesses. 

OPERATING INCOME: Operating income increased from $2.8 million, or 0.4% of net sales, in 1996 to $76.5
million, or 8.2% of net sales, in 1997. The aggregate increase in operating income reflects the higher sales
volume, improved gross margins and a $17.0 million decrease in business acquisition and consolidation
expenses. Excluding business acquisition and consolidation expenses, operating income as a percentage of
sales increased from 6.5% in 1996 to 10.9% in 1997.

INTEREST EXPENSE: Interest expense was $25.7 million, or 2.7% of net sales, for 1997 compared to $21.5 
million, or 3.1% of net sales, for 1996. The increase in interest expense primarily represents the cost of
financing the acquisitions of the Acquired Ciba and Hercules Businesses. The 1996 amount also includes 
a $3.4 million write-off of capitalized debt issuance costs.

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES: As previously discussed, in 1997 the company reversed $39.0 million of its U.S.
valuation allowance reserves in accordance with SFAS 109. Prior to 1997, the company had fully provided
valuation allowance reserves against its net deferred tax assets in the U.S. and Belgium where there were
uncertainties in generating sufficient future taxable income. 

NET INCOME (LOSS): Net income for 1997 was $73.6 million or $1.74 per diluted share compared with a 
net loss of $19.2 million or $0.58 per diluted share for 1996. Excluding the $25.3 million in business 
acquisition and consolidation expenses and assuming a U.S. effective income tax rate of 36%, 1997 
adjusted net income would have been $1.17 per diluted share. Pro forma net income for 1996 would have
been $0.48 per diluted share on a comparable basis.

There were 36.7 million weighted average shares outstanding in 1997 compared to 33.4 million during
1996. The increase in the number of weighted average shares in 1997 was primarily attributable to the 
full year impact of the delivery of 18.0 million newly issued shares of Hexcel common stock to Ciba on
February 29, 1996 in connection with the purchase of the Acquired Ciba Business. As of December 31,
1997, there were 36.9 million shares of Hexcel common stock issued and outstanding. See Note 13 to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements for the calculation, including the number of shares used, of
diluted net income per share. 

F i n a n c i a l  C o n d i t i o n  a n d  L i q u i d i t y

Financial Resources
In connection with the acquisition of the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business on September 15, 1998, Hexcel
obtained a new global credit facility (the “Senior Credit Facility”) to: (a) fund the purchase of the Acquired

1997 Compared to 1996
NET SALES: Net sales for 1997 were $936.9 million, compared with net sales for 1996 of $695.3 million. 
On a pro forma basis, including full year results of the Acquired Ciba and Hercules Businesses, 1996 sales 
were approximately $798.5 million. The 17% increase from pro forma 1996 sales was largely attributable
to improved sales of composite materials to commercial aerospace customers and sales of engineered 
products to Boeing. This increase was partially offset by the translation effect of the strengthening U.S. 
dollar. On a constant currency basis, 1997 sales would have been approximately $38.0 million higher,
reflecting a 22% increase over 1996 pro forma sales.

Approximately 46% of Hexcel’s 1997 sales were to Boeing, Airbus, and related subcontractors, as compared
to 32% in 1996. The increase is primarily due to the growth of the commercial aerospace market and to a
much lesser extent Boeing’s acquisition of McDonnell Douglas Corporation, which was completed on
August 1, 1997. Reported commercial aircraft deliveries by Boeing and Airbus improved significantly in
1997, from a combined 397 aircraft in 1996 to 557 aircraft in 1997, including 375 from Boeing and 182
deliveries by Airbus. As previously discussed, depending on the product, orders placed with Hexcel are
received anywhere between one and eighteen months prior to delivery of the aircraft to the customer. 
The company sells material for every model of commercial aircraft sold by Boeing and Airbus, with sales
per aircraft ranging from $0.2 million to over $1.0 million per aircraft on the Boeing 777.

Net sales to third-party customers by product group and market segment for 1997 and on a pro forma basis
for 1996, which includes full year results of the Acquired Ciba and Hercules Businesses, are presented below.
These net sales and pro forma net sales, excluding the effects of the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business were:

Commercial Space & General
IN MILLIONS Aerospace Defense Electronics Industrial Recreation Total

1997 Net Sales
Reinforcement products $ 23.7 $ 13.9 $ 48.3 $ 71.2 $ 13.0 $ 170.1

Composite materials 403.9 64.2 – 63.9 53.4 585.4

Engineered products 169.8 10.2 – 1.4 – 181.4

Total $ 597.4 $ 88.3 $ 48.3 $ 136.5 $ 66.4 $ 936.9

64% 9% 5% 15% 7% 100%

1996 Pro Forma Net Sales
Reinforcement products $ 17.4 $ 20.2 $ 47.2 $ 69.6 $ 27.4 $ 181.8

Composite materials 317.1 60.8 – 60.8 63.3 502.0

Engineered products 102.5 10.4 – 1.8 – 114.7

Total $ 437.0 $ 91.4 $ 47.2 $ 132.2 $ 90.7 $ 798.5

55% 11% 6% 17% 11% 100%

The 37% growth in net sales to the commercial aerospace market from 1996 to 1997 was largely 
attributable to increased sales of composite materials and engineered products. The improvement in sales of
composite materials reflects the commercial aircraft build rate increase noted above. The improvement for
engineered products primarily reflects the production of structural and interior components outsourced to
Hexcel by Boeing throughout 1997, as well as strong shipments of retrofit interiors to airline customers. 

Space and defense net sales decreased 3% from 1996 to 1997, reflecting a decrease in sales of reinforcement
products, which were partially offset by improved sales of composite materials to select military programs.

Electronics net sales in 1996 were comparable to 1997. The 3% increase in general industrial net sales was
largely due to improved sales of composite materials for various transportation applications. Recreation net
sales decreased 27% from 1996 to 1997, reflecting the shift in emphasis of production to the commercial
aerospace market as a result of the increased demand.  Hexcel anticipated sales to the electronics, general
industrial and recreation markets to grow modestly throughout 1998.
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Capital Expenditures
Capital expenditures were $66.5 million in 1998 compared with $57.4 million in 1997 and $43.6 million
in 1996. Pro forma 1998 capital expenditures were approximately $70 million. The increase in 1998 
expenditures over prior years reflects the impact of the company’s various acquisitions on capital 
requirements, including the impact of certain business consolidation activities. The increase also reflects
expenditures on manufacturing equipment necessary to improve manufacturing processes and to expand
production capacity for select product lines. As a result of the company’s consolidation activities and the
global capacity review that will be performed in 1999, the company expects that capital spending will
decrease in 1999 to approximately $45 to $50 million.

Adjusted EBITDA, Cash Flows and Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges
1998: Earnings before business acquisition and consolidation expenses, other income, interest, bankruptcy
reorganization expenses, taxes, depreciation and amortization (“Adjusted EBITDA”) was $177.2 million. Pro
forma Adjusted EBITDA, giving effect to the acquisition of the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business as if the
transaction had occurred at the beginning of the year, was approximately $208 million. Net cash provided
by operating activities was $93.8 million, as $50.4 million of net income and $54.3 million of non-cash
depreciation, amortization and deferred income taxes, was partially offset by increased working capital of
$14.5 million which resulted from the increase in sales volume. 

Net cash used for investing activities was $539.2 million, reflecting $472.8 million of net cash paid for 
the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business, and $66.5 million of capital expenditures. Net cash provided by
financing activities was $440.7 million, primarily reflecting $459.7 million of net funds borrowed under the
Senior and Revolving Credit Facilities, including the financing of the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business, 
offset in part by the repurchase of $10.0 million of treasury stock and $10.3 million of debt issuance costs
related to the Senior and Amended Revolving Credit Facilities. 

1997: Adjusted EBITDA for 1997 was $137.6 million and pro forma Adjusted EBITDA was $188.3 
million. Net cash provided from operations was $29.2 million including $33.6 million of business 
acquisition and consolidation payments and a $46.7 million increase in working capital as a result of the
increase in sales volume. 

Net cash used for investing activities was $82.9 million, including $57.4 for capital expenditures and 
$37.0 million for the Fiberite transaction, partially offset by $13.5 million of proceeds from the sale of 
the Anaheim facility and the company’s 50% interest in the Knytex joint venture to Owens Corning. 
These investing activities were funded by cash from operations and $57.2 million of borrowings primarily
under the Revolving Credit Facility. 

1996: Adjusted EBITDA was $71.9 million. Pro forma Adjusted EBITDA, giving effect to the acquisitions
of the Acquired Ciba and Hercules Businesses as if those transactions had occurred at the beginning of the
year, was approximately $86 million.

Net cash provided by operating activities was $33.8 million. Net cash used for investing activities was
$206.4 million, including $164.4 million used in connection with the acquisitions of the Acquired Ciba and
Hercules Businesses and $43.6 million for capital expenditures. Net cash provided by financing activities, 
including borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility and proceeds from the issuance of $114.5 million
in convertible subordinated notes, was $174.4 million. Non-cash financing of the purchase of the Acquired
Ciba Business included the issuance of debt securities valued at $37.2 million and the issuance of 18.0 
million shares of Hexcel common stock valued at $144.2 million.

Adjusted EBITDA and pro forma Adjusted EBITDA have been presented to provide a measure of Hexcel’s
operating performance that is commonly used by investors and financial analysts to analyze and compare
companies. Adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly titled financial measures of other 
companies. Adjusted EBITDA and pro forma Adjusted EBITDA do not represent alternative measures

Clark-Schwebel Business; (b) refinance the company’s existing revolving credit facility; and (c) provide for
ongoing working capital and other financing requirements of the company. The Senior Credit Facility, prior
to the issuance in January 1999 of $240.0 million principal amount of 9.75% Senior Subordinated Notes
due 2009 (the “Senior Subordinated Notes”), provided for up to $910.0 million of borrowing capacity.
Available committed borrowing capacity under the Senior Credit Facility at December 31, 1998, was
$281.0 million, of which $115.5 million could have been drawn after recognition of certain loan covenants
that form part of this credit agreement. 

On January 21, 1999, the company issued $240.0 million of Senior Subordinated Notes. Net proceeds of
approximately $231 million from this offering were used to repay amounts owed under the Senior Credit
Facility. Simultaneously with the closing of this offering, the company amended the Senior Credit Facility
to, among other things, reduce the available borrowing capacity to $672.0 million, modify certain 
financial covenants and to permit the offering. On February 17, 1999, the company also redeemed $12.5
million of its increasing rate senior subordinated notes payable to Ciba. Such repayment was financed 
with borrowings under the company’s Senior Credit Facility. The company anticipates making further 
redemptions as it generates free cash flow.

In connection with the purchase of the Acquired Hercules Business in 1996, Hexcel obtained a revolving
credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility”). The Revolving Credit Facility was obtained to: (a) refinance
outstanding indebtedness under a senior secured credit facility; (b) finance the purchase of the Acquired
Hercules Business; and (c) provide for the ongoing working capital and other financing requirements of the
company, including business consolidation activities, on a worldwide basis. The Revolving Credit Facility
was amended in March 1998 (the “Amended Revolving Credit Facility”) and in September 1998, the Senior
Credit Facility replaced the Amended Revolving Credit Facility. The Amended Revolving Credit Facility,
prior to its replacement, had provided up to $355.0 million of borrowing capacity and would have expired
in March 2003.

The company expects that its financial resources, including the Senior Credit Facility, will be sufficient 
to fund the company’s worldwide operations for the foreseeable future. Nonetheless, one of the company’s
primary goals over the next few years is generating operating cash flow to reduce debt, including reducing
working capital. Further discussion of the company’s financial resources is contained in Note 7 to the 
accompanying consolidated financial statements. 

Capital Lease Obligation 
Hexcel entered into a $50.0 million capital lease for property, plant and equipment used in the Acquired
Clark-Schwebel Business. The lease expires in September 2006 and includes various purchase options. 

Stock Buyback Plans
In 1998, the company’s Board of Directors approved plans to repurchase up to $20.0 million of the 
company’s common stock. During the year ended December 31, 1998, the company repurchased 
0.8 million shares of its common stock at an average cost of $12.32 per share, for a total of $10.0 million.
The Board of Directors may also approve additional stock buybacks from time to time subject to market
conditions and the terms of the company’s credit agreements and indentures. The purchases may be made
in the open market at prevailing prices or in privately negotiated transactions. The company does not 
currently anticipate repurchasing additional common stock in 1999.

Other Capital Commitments
Mandatory redemption of the company’s 7% convertible subordinated debentures, due 2011, is scheduled
to begin in 2002 through annual sinking fund requirements of $1.1 million in 2002 and $1.8 million in
each year thereafter. 

The company has total estimated financial commitments to its proposed joint ventures in China and Malaysia
of approximately $31 million. These commitments are expected to be made in increments through 2001. 
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of the company’s manufacturing operations in Europe, the consolidation of the company’s U.S. special
process manufacturing activities, and the integration of sales, marketing and administrative resources. 
Management expected that this consolidation program would take approximately three years to complete,
in part because of the aerospace industry requirements to “qualify” specific equipment and manufacturing
facilities for the manufacture of certain products. These qualification requirements increase the complexity,
cost and time of moving equipment and rationalizing manufacturing activities.

As of December 31, 1998, the primary remaining activities of this consolidation program relate to the 
company’s European operations and certain customer qualifications of equipment transferred within the
U.S. The company expects that activities related to this consolidation program will be completed in 1999.
Total expenses for this program, which remains unchanged since December 31, 1997, were $54.7 million,
excluding $13.0 million of expenses relating to the Fiberite transaction, which were not included in the 
original program. The company anticipates no additional expenses in relation to this consolidation program.

The company initially estimated that 1996 business consolidation program would result in annual cost
reductions of $32 million per year, beginning in 1999. Due to the nature of the program (i.e., consolidation
of existing and acquired businesses, while at the same time the company was experiencing an increase in 
its commercial aerospace market), the exact amount of annual savings is difficult to isolate. However, the
company continues to believe that cost savings have been achieved and, upon completion of the program,
estimated cost savings will equal or exceed the target of $32 million per year. The program was a key 
contributor to the company’s improvement in operating margins in 1997 and 1998.

Further discussion and analysis of the company’s business consolidation programs is contained in Note 3 to
the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

M a r k e t  R i s k s

The company’s financial position, results of operations and cash flows are subject to market risks, which 
primarily include fluctuations in interest rates and exchange rate variability. 

Interest Rate Risks
The company’s long-term debt bears interest at both fixed and variable rates. As a result, the company’s
results of operations are affected by interest rate changes on its variable rate debt. In order to mitigate 
a portion of this risk, in 1998 the company entered into an interest rate cap agreement which covers a 
notional amount of $50.0 million of the company’s variable rate debt under the Senior Credit Facility. 
In addition, on January 21, 1999, the company issued $240.0 million of 9.75% Senior Subordinated Notes,
due 2009. Net proceeds of approximately $231 million from this offering were used to redeem variable rate
amounts owed under the Senior Credit Facility. On February 17, 1999, the company repaid $12.5 million
of its senior subordinated notes payable to Ciba, which was fixed (but increasing) rate debt. The repayment
was financed with borrowings under the company’s Senior Credit Facility. 

The table below presents the impact on the company’s net income and pro forma net income, as if the 
acquisition of the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business had occurred at the beginning of the year and, after
adjusting interest expense for the above refinancings, of a 10% favorable and a 10% unfavorable change in
the company’s variable rate debt: 

10% 10%
As Favorable Unfavorable

IN MILLIONS Reported Change Change

Net income $ 50.4 $ 52.0 $ 48.9

Pro forma net income 49.5 52.4 46.5

of the company’s cash flows or operating income, and should not be considered in isolation or as substitutes 
for measures of performance presented in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. 
A reconciliation of net income to EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA for 1998, 1997 and 1996 is as follows:

IN MILLIONS 1998 1997 1996

Net income (loss) $ 50.4 $ 73.6 $ (19.1)

Provision (benefit) for income taxes 28.4 (22.9) 3.4

Interest expense 38.7 25.7 21.5

Depreciation and amoritization expense 47.5 35.9 26.7

Equity in earnings of affiliated companies (0.5) – –

EBITDA 164.5 112.3 32.5

Business acquisition and consolidation expenses 12.7 25.3 42.4

Other income – – (3.0)

Adjusted EBITDA $177.2 $137.6 $ 71.9

The ratio of earnings to fixed charges for 1998 and 1997 was 2.9. In 1996, the deficiency of earnings 
to fixed charges was $15.8 million. The calculation of earnings to fixed charges assumes that one-third of
the company’s rental expense, representing a reasonable approximation of such rentals, is attributable to
interest expense.

B u s i n e s s  C o n s o l i d a t i o n  P r o g r a m s

In December 1998, Hexcel announced consolidation actions within its reinforcement fabrics and composite
materials businesses. These actions included the integration of Hexcel’s existing fabrics business with 
the U.S. operations of the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business, and the combination of the company’s 
U.S., European and Pacific Rim composite materials businesses into a single, global business unit. 
These actions are intended to eliminate redundancies, improve manufacturing planning, and enhance 
customer service, and resulted in the elimination of approximately 100 operating, sales, marketing and
administrative positions. The cost of these actions, together with a $6.4 million non-cash charge for 
writing down certain assets held for disposition and another $0.7 million incurred for costs related to a 
proposed acquisition that was not consummated, resulted in the recognition of $12.7 million in business
acquisition and consolidation expenses in 1998. Beginning in 1999, the company anticipates annual cash
savings from these business consolidation activities to be approximately $10 million. 

In addition to these initiatives, the company expects to complete a global capacity review of its worldwide
facilities requirements during 1999. On March 16, 1999, the company announced the closing of its
Cleveland, Georgia facility, which currently employs 100 people and produces fabrics for the electronics
market. Production equipment from the facility will be relocated to the company’s Anderson, S.C. facility,
with the closure expected to be completed by July 1, 1999. Anticipated cash savings from this business 
consolidation activity will help offset competitive pricing pressures in the company’s electronics market. 
In addition to this facility closure, the global capacity review may result in the closing or right-sizing of 
additional facilities and, as a result, additional consolidation charges will be recognized in 1999.

In 1996, Hexcel announced plans to consolidate the company’s operations over a period of three 
years. The objective of the program was to integrate acquired assets and operations into Hexcel, and to 
reorganize the company’s manufacturing and research activities around strategic centers dedicated to 
select product technologies. The business consolidation program was also intended to eliminate excess
manufacturing capacity and redundant administrative functions. Specific actions of the consolidation 
program included the elimination of 245 manufacturing, marketing and administrative positions, the
closure of the Anaheim, California facility acquired in connection with the purchase of the Acquired Ciba
Business (the building was sold in 1997 for net proceeds of approximately $8.5 million), the reorganization
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Business Systems & Devices
In order to address the Year 2000 issue as it relates to the company’s Business Systems and Devices, 
the company has developed, and is in the process of implementing, a six phase plan. The company is 
also using external consulting services, where appropriate, as part of its efforts to address its Year 
2000 issue. In implementing this plan, the company has been, and continues to be substantially on 
schedule. The components of this plan and their related status, as of February 28, 1999, are detailed below
and apply to both the company’s Business Systems and its Devices: 

(I) INVENTORY: This phase, which was completed in December 1998, consisted of compiling a detailed listing
of the company’s Business Systems and Devices likely to be impacted by the Year 2000 issue.

(II) RISK ASSESSMENT AND ASSIGNING PRIORITIES: This phase consisted of assessing the likelihood that a Business
System or Device is not Year 2000 compliant as well as assigning a priority of importance to the particular
Business System or Device as it relates to the company’s business operations. This phase was completed 
in December 1998.

(III) ASSESSING COMPLIANCE: This phase consists of assessing Year 2000 compliance on the company’s Business
Systems or Devices which have been identified as essential to the company’s business operations. 
In assessing compliance, the company performs a variety of tasks including, obtaining Year 2000 
compliance statements and information from the company’s vendors and service providers. This phase is
substantially complete, with final completion estimated by March 31, 1999. However, in order to complete
this phase, the company is dependent upon the cooperation from its suppliers and service providers as well
as the completeness and accuracy of their responses.

(IV) REPAIRING OR REPLACING: This phase consists of repairing and replacing non-Year 2000 compliant Business
Systems and Devices which are essential to the company’s operations. This phase is approximately 50%
complete, with substantial completion estimated by June 30, 1999.  

(V) TESTING: This phase consists of testing the repair or replacement of those Business Systems and Devices
which are essential to the company’s business operations. The company also intends to test the integration
of the various Business Systems and Devices within the company’s manufacturing processes. This phase is
approximately 45% complete, with substantial completion estimated by June 30, 1999. The results of this
phase may change the estimated timing of completion of phase four. 

(VI) DEVELOPING CONTINGENCY PLANS: This phase consists of developing alternative plans in the event that a 
business interruption occurs from a Year 2000 issue. The company is in the early stages of this phase. 
The company has targeted September 30, 1999 as the date of substantially completing its contingency
plans, however, the company believes that this phase will be on-going through to the year 2000. 

Suppliers & Customers
The company is also monitoring the status of its significant suppliers and customers as a means of assessing
risks and developing alternatives. The company has sent out surveys to all of its significant suppliers 
and customers to determine what steps, if any, those companies are taking to remediate their respective 
Year 2000 issues. The company is, however, dependent upon its suppliers and customers with respect to 
the completeness and accuracy of such responses. 

As of February 28, 1999, the company has received responses from nearly two-thirds and one-third of 
its significant suppliers and customers, respectively. The responses from the company’s suppliers generally
indicate that these parties are taking actions to ensure that their ability to supply products or services to 
the company will not be impaired. To the extent that supplier responses to Year 2000 readiness are 
unsatisfactory, the company will attempt to reduce risks of interruptions, with such options including
changes in suppliers to those who have demonstrated Year 2000 readiness, and accumulation of inventory.
The responses from the company’s customers also generally indicate that these parties are taking actions to

Foreign Currency Risks
The company is subject to foreign currency exchange rate risk relating to receipts from customers and 
payments to suppliers using non-local or “non-functional” currencies. In general, the company maintains a
“naturally hedged” position where it balances customer receipts and supplier payments with similar 
currencies. Net exposures are hedged by purchasing foreign currency forward contracts. Consistent with the
nature of the economic hedge of such foreign exchange contracts, any unrealized gain or loss would be 
offset by corresponding decreases or increases, respectively, of the underlying transaction being hedged. 
As of December 31, 1998, the company had limited net exposure in relation to its non-functional 
currencies as well as a limited amount of outstanding foreign exchange contracts. Accordingly, the impact
of a 10% appreciation and a 10% depreciation of the U.S. dollar against the company’s net non-functional
currencies and foreign exchange contracts would not represent a material potential gain or loss in fair value,
earnings or cash flows. In addition, the company is generally not exposed to Asian currencies as transactions
with customers in Pacific Rim countries are predominately denominated in U.S. dollars, British pounds or
French francs.

The primary currencies for which the company has foreign currency translation exchange rate exposure are
the U.S. dollar versus the British pound, French franc, German mark, Belgium franc, Austrian schilling and
Spanish peseta. With the introduction of the Euro, the company’s primary exposures are now between the
U.S. dollar, British pound and the Euro. The company does not participate in hedging activities to 
offset translation effects of changes in foreign exchange rates on the company’s consolidated financial 
position, results of operations and cash flows. The impact of a 10% appreciation or 10% depreciation of the
U.S. dollar against the company’s net underlying foreign currency translation exposures could be significant.

Other Risks 
As of December 31, 1998, the aggregate fair values of the company’s convertible subordinated notes, due
2003, and the convertible subordinated debentures, due 2011, were $96.1 million and $19.0 million,
respectively. These debt securities are convertible into Hexcel common stock at a conversion price of $15.81
and $30.72 per share, respectively. Fair values were estimated on the basis of quoted market prices, although
trading in these debt securities is limited and may not reflect fair value. Due to the conversion feature 
in these debt securities, fair values are subject to fluctuations based on the value of the company’s stock 
and the company’s credit rating, as well as changes in interest rates for debt securities with similar terms.
Assuming all other factors remain constant, the fair values of the company’s convertible 
subordinated notes, due 2003, and the convertible subordinated debentures, due 2011, would be 
approximately $99.6 million and $19.2 million, respectively, assuming a 10% favorable change in the 
market price of the company’s common stock, and $92.7 million and $18.7 million, respectively, assuming
a 10% unfavorable change in market price.

Ye a r  2 0 0 0  R e a d i n e s s  D i s c l o s u r e

Hexcel, like most other companies, is continuing to address whether its information technology systems and
non-information technology devices with embedded microprocessors (collectively “Business Systems and
Devices”) will recognize and process dates starting with the year 2000 and beyond (the “Year 2000”). The
Year 2000 issue can arise at any point in the company’s supply, manufacturing, processing and distribution
chains. The company does not, however, manufacture or sell products that contain microprocessors or soft-
ware. 

The company has established a central Year 2000 project office to coordinate and monitor progress towards
achieving corporate-wide Year 2000 compliance. A discussion of the company’s Business Systems and
Devices, suppliers and vendors as they pertain to the company’s Year 2000 issues, as of February 28, 1999,
is detailed as follows:  
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regarding the impact of pricing pressures from Hexcel’s customers; (e) expectations regarding the ability 
of Hexcel to pass along price reductions to its suppliers; (f) expectations regarding future sales based 
on current backlog; (g) expectations regarding sales growth, sales mix, gross margins, manufacturing
productivity, capital expenditures and treasury stock repurchases; (h) expectations regarding Hexcel’s 
financial condition and liquidity, as well as future free cash flows and earnings; (i) estimates of the total 
cost of Hexcel’s 1996 business consolidation program and the likelihood that additional business 
acquisition and consolidation expenses would be incurred in 1999; (j) expectations regarding the costs and
benefits of accelerating and expanding Hexcel’s Lean Enterprise and business consolidation programs,
including the closure of the company’s Cleveland, GA facility, and implementing a value chain management
program; (k) expectations regarding the exercise of the CS-Interglas options at their stated price; (l) the
impact of various market risk fluctuations, including fluctuations in: the company’s variable rate debt; 
currencies in which the company has translation exposure to; and changes in the market value of the 
company’s common stock; and; (m) the impact of the Year 2000 issue, the estimated costs associated with
becoming Year 2000 compliant and the estimated target date for substantial completion of remediation. 

Such forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors 
that may cause actual results to be materially different. Such factors include, but are not limited to, the 
following: the integration of the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business without disruption to manufacturing,
marketing and distribution activities; changes in general economic and business conditions; changes in cur-
rent pricing levels; changes in political, social and economic conditions and local regulations, particularly in
Asia and Europe; foreign currency fluctuations; changes in aerospace delivery rates; reductions in sales to
any significant customers, particularly Boeing or Airbus; changes in sales mix; changes in government
defense procurement budgets; changes in military aerospace programs technology; industry capacity; 
competition; disruptions of established supply channels; manufacturing capacity constraints; the 
availability, terms and deployment of capital; and the ability of Hexcel to accurately estimate the cost of 
systems preparation and successfully implement required actions for Year 2000 compliance. 

If one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or if underlying assumptions prove incorrect, 
our actual results may vary materially from those expected, estimated or projected. In addition to other 
factors that affect the company’s operating results and financial position, past financial performance or the
company’s expectations should not be considered to be a reliable indicator of future performance. Investors
should not use historical trends to anticipate results or trends in future periods. Further, the company’s stock
price is subject to volatility. Any of the factors discussed above could have an adverse impact on the 
company’s stock price. In addition, failure of sales or income in any quarter to meet the investment 
community’s expectations, as well as broader market trends, can have an adverse impact on the company’s
stock price. 

The company does not undertake an obligation to update its forward-looking statements or risk factors to
reflect future events or circumstances. 

ensure their ability to purchase products from the company will not be impaired. The company will 
continue to monitor the status of all of its significant suppliers’ and customers’ Year 2000 readiness through
to the year 2000, in order to determine whether additional or alternative measures are necessary.

Total estimated costs to address the company’s Year 2000 issues, including preparing the company’s
Business Systems and Devices to become Year 2000 compliant, is approximately $5.5 million, of 
which approximately $1.5 million has been incurred as of February 28, 1999. The total estimated cost
includes approximately $1 million of capital expenditures to be used for the purchase of certain capital
equipment to replace equipment which is currently not Year 2000 compliant. The estimate also includes
the cost of certain internal resources fully dedicated to this project, however, it does not include any 
costs associated with the implementation of contingency plans, which have not yet been developed. 
The company has not used any external resources to independently verify these cost estimates. Due to
resource constraints caused by the Year 2000 issue, the company is deferring other information technology
projects. These deferrals, however, are not expected to have a material adverse effect on the company’s
results of operations or financial condition. 

As the company has not yet developed its contingency plans (these plans are expected to be completed 
by September 30, 1999), it is unable to assess the most reasonably likely worst case scenario. However, 
if necessary remediation actions are not completed in a timely manner, or if the company’s suppliers and
customers do not successfully address their Year 2000 issues, the company estimates that a disruption 
in operations could occur. Such a disruption could result in, for example, delays in the receipt of raw 
materials and distribution of finished goods, or errors in customer orders. These consequences could 
have a material impact on the operations, liquidity and financial condition of the company. The company
presently believes that by implementing its plans, including modifications to existing Business Systems and
Devices and conversion to new or upgraded software and other systems, the Year 2000 issue will not pose
significant operational problems for the company.  

R e c e n t l y  I s s u e d  A c c o u n t i n g  S t a n d a r d

In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement No. 133, “Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” (“SFAS 133”). This Statement requires companies to record
derivatives on the balance sheet as assets and liabilities, measured at fair value. Gains or losses resulting from
changes in the values of those derivatives would be accounted for depending on the use of the derivative and
whether it qualifies for hedge accounting. SFAS 133 is not expected to have a material impact on Hexcel’s
consolidated financial statements. This Statement is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 1999.
Hexcel will adopt this accounting standard as required by January 1, 2000.

F o r w a r d - L o o k i n g  S t a t e m e n t s  a n d  R i s k  Fa c t o r s

This annual report includes forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements relate to analyses and other information which are 
based on forecasts of future results and estimates of amounts not yet determinable. These statements also
relate to future prospects, developments and business strategies. These forward-looking statements are 
identified by their use of terms and phrases such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,”
“intend,” “may,” “plan,” “predict,” “project,” “will” and similar terms and phrases, including references to
assumptions. Such statements are based on current expectations, are inherently uncertain, and are subject
to changing assumptions. 

Such forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to: (a) estimates of commercial aerospace 
production and delivery rates, including those of Boeing and Airbus; (b) estimates of the change in net sales
in total and by market compared to 1998 pro forma net sales; (c) expectations regarding the growth in 
the production of military aircraft and launch vehicle programs in 2000 and beyond; (d) expectations
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Hexcel management has prepared and is responsible for the consolidated financial statements and the 
related financial data contained in this report. These financial statements, which include estimates, were 
prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Management uses its best judgment
to ensure that such statements reflect fairly the consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash
flows of the company.

Hexcel maintains accounting and other control systems, which management believes provide reasonable
assurance that financial records are reliable for purposes of preparing financial statements and that assets are
safeguarded and accounted for properly. Underlying this concept of reasonable assurance is the premise that
the cost of control should not exceed benefits derived from control.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors reviews and monitors the financial reports and accounting
practices of Hexcel. These reports and practices are reviewed regularly by management and by the 
company’s independent accountants, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, in connection with the audit of 
the company’s financial statements. The Audit Committee, composed solely of outside directors, meets 
periodically, separately and jointly, with management and the independent accountants.

John J. Lee
Chief Executive Officer

Stephen C. Forsyth
Chief Financial Officer

Wayne C. Pensky
Chief Accounting Officer

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Hexcel Corporation: 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements 
of operations, of stockholders’ equity and of cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Hexcel Corporation and its subsidiaries at December 3l, 1998 and 1997, and the results of 
their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles. These financial statements are the responsibility of the company’s management; our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our
audits of these statements in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards which require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free
of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for the opinion expressed above. The financial statements of Hexcel
Corporation for the year ended December 31, 1996 were audited by other independent accountants whose
report dated February 28, 1997 expressed an unqualified opinion on those statements.

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP
San Jose, California
January 21, 1999, except as to 

Ciba Senior Subordinated Notes Payable and
Aggregate Maturities of Notes Payable and
Indebtedness to Related Parties in Note 7, 
which are as of February 17, 1999 
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1998 1997 1996

Net sales $1,089,044 $ 936,855 $ 695,251

Cost of sales 817,785 714,223 553,942

Gross margin 271,259 222,632 141,309

Selling, general and administrative expenses 117,885 102,449 79,408

Research and technology expenses 23,624 18,383 16,742

Business acquisition and consolidation expenses 12,711 25,343 42,370

Operating income 117,039 76,457 2,789

Interest expense 38,675 25,705 21,537

Other income, net – – (2,994)

Income (loss) before income taxes 78,364 50,752 (15,754)

Provision (benefit) for income taxes 28,442 (22,878) 3,436

Equity in earnings of affiliated companies 517 – –

Net income (loss) $ 50,439 $ 73,630 $ (19,190)

Net income (loss) per share:
Basic $ 1.38 $ 2.00 $ (0.58)

Diluted $ 1.24 $ 1.74 $ (0.58)

Weighted average shares:
Basic 36,675 36,748 33,351

Diluted 45,671 45,997 33,351

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated statements of operations
IN THOUSANDS EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA

December 31, December 31,
1998 1997

A s s e t s

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 7,504 $ 9,033
Accounts receivable 188,368 181,192
Inventories 213,199 165,321
Prepaid expenses and other assets 10,111 6,665
Deferred tax asset 19,844 24,839
Total current assets 439,026 387,050
Property, plant and equipment 628,533 488,916 
Less accumulated depreciation (195,960) (157,439)
Net property, plant and equipment 432,573 331,477 
Goodwill and other purchased intangibles, net of accumulated amortization 

of $11,742 in 1998 and $4,657 in 1997 425,405 67,184
Investment in affiliated companies and other assets 107,157 25,875
Total assets $1,404,161 $ 811,586 

L i a b i l i t i e s  a n d  S t o c k h o l d e r s ’ E q u i t y

Current liabilities:
Notes payable and current maturities of capital lease obligations $ 26,867 $ 13,858 
Accounts payable 81,869 70,011 
Accrued compensation and benefits 42,172 37,306 
Other accrued liabilities 68,536 65,181 
Total current liabilities 219,444 186,356 
Long-term notes payable and capital lease obligations 802,376 304,546 
Indebtedness to related parties 35,675 34,967 
Other non-current liabilities 44,267 35,816 
Total liabilities 1,101,762 561,685
Commitments and contingent liabilities (see notes)
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, no par value, 20,000 stock authorized,

no stock issued or outstanding in 1998 and 1997 – –
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 100,000 stock authorized, 

stock issued and outstanding of 37,176 in 1998 and 36,891 in 1997 372 369 
Additional paid-in capital 271,469 266,830
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit) 34,898 (15,541)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 6,313 (1,104)

313,052 250,554
Less–treasury stock, at cost, 847 stock in 1998, 35 stock in 1997 (10,653) (653)
Total stockholders’ equity 302,399 249,901 
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $1,404,161 $ 811,586 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated balance sheets
IN THOUSANDS EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA

4342



1998 1997 1996
C a s h  f l o w s  f r o m  o p e r a t i n g  a c t i v i t i e s

Net income (loss) $ 50,439 $ 73,630 $ (19,190)
Reconciliation to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation 37,442 33,214 24,656
Amortization 10,012 2,583 2,074
Deferred income taxes 6,850 (33,203) (520)
Accrued business acquisition and consolidation expenses 12,711 25,343 42,370
Business acquisition and consolidation payments (8,651) (33,595) (11,579)
Write-off of purchased in-process technologies – 8,000 –
Equity in earnings of affiliated companies (517) – –
Other income – – (1,560)
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisitions:

Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable 18,214 (37,557) (14,695)
Increase in inventories (9,316) (23,797) (5,072)
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses and other assets (2,858) 1,667 (1,430)
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities (17,067) 23,567 15,549
Changes in other non-current assets and long-term liabilities (3,479) (10,606) 3,225

Net cash provided by operating activities 93,780 29,246 33,828

C a s h  f l o w s  f r o m  i n v e s t i n g  a c t i v i t i e s

Capital expenditures (66,530) (57,369) (43,569)
Cash paid for business acquisitions (472,770) (37,000) (164,400)
Dividends received from affiliated companies 1,399 – –
Proceeds from sale of other assets – 13,500 1,560
Advances to affiliated companies (1,250) (2,000) –

Net cash used by investing activities (539,151) (82,869) (206,409)

C a s h  f l o w s  f r o m  f i n a n c i n g  a c t i v i t i e s

Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 276 3,199 286,974
Repayments of long-term debt (1,805) (9,679) (124,288)
Proceeds from the Senior and Revolving Credit Facilities 726,044 84,686 15,319
Repayments of the Senior and Revolving Credit Facilities (266,339) (27,500) –
Debt issuance costs (10,264) – (6,792)
Purchase of treasury stock (10,000) (97) (556)
Activity under stock plans 2,753 3,363 3,729

Net cash provided by financing activities 440,665 53,972 174,386
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 3,177 709 2,341
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (1,529) 1,058 4,146
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 9,033 7,975 3,829
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 7,504 $ 9,033 $ 7,975

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated statements of cash flows
IN THOUSANDS

Common Stock Retained Accumulated
Additional Earnings Other Total

Paid-in (Accumulated Comprehensive Treasury Stockholders’ Comprehensive
Par Capital Deficit) Income (Loss) Shares Equity Income (Loss)

Balance, January 1, 1996 $181 $111,259 $(69,981) $ 6,915 $ – $48,3774

Net loss (19,190) (19,190) $ (19,190)

Pension obligation adjustment 535 535 535

Currency translation adjustment 1,092 1,092 1,092

Comprehensive loss (17,563)

Issuance of stock to Ciba, 
net of issuance costs of $2,993 180 141,001 141,181

Activity under stock plans 4 7,689 7,693

Other issuance of stock 1 199 200

Treasury stock purchased (556) (556)

Balance, December 31, 1996 366 260,148 (89,171) 8,542 (556) 179,329

Net income 73,630 73,630 73,630

Currency translation adjustment (9,646) (9,646) (9,646)

Comprehensive income 63,984

Activity under stock plans 3 6,632 6,635

Conversion of Subordinated Notes 50 50

Treasury stock purchased (97) (97)

Balance, December 31, 1997 369 266,830 (15,541) (1,104) (653) 249,901

Net income 50,439 50,439 50,439

Currency translation adjustment 7,417 7,417 7,417

Comprehensive income $ 57,856

Activity under stock plans 3 4,624 4,627

Conversion of Subordinated Notes 15 15

Treasury stock purchased (10,000) (10,000)

Balance, December 31, 1998 $372 $271,469 $ 34,898 $ 6,313 $(10,653) $302,399

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity
IN THOUSANDS
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N o t e  1 -  S i g n i f i c a n t  A c c o u n t i n g  P o l i c i e s

Nature of Operations and Basis of Accounting
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Hexcel Corporation and 
subsidiaries (“Hexcel” or the “company”), after elimination of intercompany transactions and accounts.
Hexcel is a leading producer of advanced structural materials. The company develops, manufactures 
and markets lightweight, high-performance reinforcement products, composite materials and engineered 
products for use in the commercial aerospace, space and defense, electronics, general industrial and 
recreation markets. The company serves international markets through manufacturing and marketing 
facilities located in the United States and Europe, as well as sales offices in Asia, Australia and South
America. The company is also a member of four joint ventures that manufacture and market reinforcement
products and composite materials in Europe, Asia and the United States.

As discussed in Note 2, Hexcel acquired:

• certain assets and assumed certain operating liabilities from Clark-Schwebel, Inc. and its subsidiaries’ 
(“C-S”) industrial fabrics business (the “Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business”) on September 15, 1998,
including interests in three joint ventures, one of which was acquired on December 23, 1998;

• the worldwide composites division of Ciba-Geigy Limited (“CGL”), a Swiss corporation, and Ciba-Geigy
Corporation, a New York corporation (“CGC” and together with CGL, “Ciba”), including most of 
Ciba’s composite materials, parts and structures businesses, on February 29, 1996. The company 
subsequently acquired Ciba’s Austrian composites business on May 30, 1996, and various remaining
assets of Ciba’s worldwide composites division at various dates through February 28, 1997 (the “Acquired
Ciba Business”);

• the composite products division of Hercules Incorporated (“Hercules”), including Hercules’ carbon 
fibers and prepreg businesses (the “Acquired Hercules Business”), on June 27, 1996; and

• the satellite business and rights to certain technologies from Fiberite, Inc. (“Fiberite”), on September 30,
1997.

All of the above acquisitions were accounted for under the purchase method of accounting. Accordingly, the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets, statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows
include the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the businesses acquired as of such dates
and for such periods that these businesses were owned by Hexcel.

Estimates and Assumptions
The accompanying consolidated financial statements and related notes reflect estimates and assumptions
made by the management of Hexcel. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities, the disclosures with respect to contingent assets and liabilities, and the reported amounts 
of revenues and expenses. Although management believes that the estimates and assumptions used in
preparing the accompanying consolidated financial statements and related notes are reasonable in light of
known facts and circumstances, actual results could differ materially from the estimates used.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Hexcel invests excess cash in investments with original maturities of less than three months. The invest-
ments consist primarily of Eurodollar time deposits and are stated at cost, which approximates fair value.
The company considers such investments to be cash equivalents for purposes of the statements of cash flows.

Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable are net of reserves for doubtful accounts of $6,785 and $6,641 as of December 31, 1998
and 1997, respectively.

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market, with cost determined using the first-in, first-out and
average cost methods.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost. Repairs and maintenance are charged to expense as
incurred; replacements and betterments are capitalized. Property, plant and equipment are depreciated over
estimated useful lives, using accelerated and straight-line methods. The estimated useful lives range from
10 to 40 years for buildings and improvements and from 3 to 20 years for machinery and equipment. 

Goodwill and Other Purchased Intangibles
Goodwill, representing the excess of purchase price and acquisition costs over the fair value of net assets of
businesses acquired, and other purchased intangibles, are amortized on a straight-line basis over estimated
economic lives which are as follows:

Goodwill from the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business 40 years
Goodwill from the Acquired Ciba Business 20 years
Other purchased intangibles 10-15 years

The company periodically reviews the recoverability of all long-term assets, including the related amortiza-
tion period, whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset
might not be recoverable. The company determines whether there has been an impairment by comparing
the anticipated undiscounted future net cash flows to the related asset’s carrying value. If an asset is 
considered impaired, the asset is written down to fair value which is either determined based on discounted
cash flows or appraised values, depending on the nature of the asset.

Investment in Affiliated Companies
Investment in affiliated companies consists of equity interests in joint ventures, which are accounted for
using the equity method of accounting.

Debt Financing Costs
Debt financing costs are deferred and amortized over the life of the related debt, which ranges from 
7 to 8 years.

Stock-Based Compensation
Stock-based compensation is accounted for in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion
(“APB”) No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.” Accordingly, compensation expense is not 
recognized when options are granted at the fair market value at the date of grant. The company also 
provides additional pro forma disclosures as required under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(“SFAS”) No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.”

Currency Translation
The assets and liabilities of non-U.S. subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars at year-end exchange rates,
and revenues and expenses are translated at average exchange rates during the year. Cumulative currency
translation adjustments are included in “stockholders’ equity.” Realized gains and losses from currency
exchange transactions are recorded in “selling, general and administrative expenses” in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations and were not material to the company’s consolidated results of 
operations in 1998, 1997 or 1996.

Revenue Recognition
Product sales are recognized on the date of shipment.
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CS-Interglas and Asahi-Schwebel are fiberglass fabric producers serving the European and Asian electronics
and telecommunications industries. CS Tech-Fab manufactures non-woven materials for roofing, construc-
tion and other specialty applications. The fixed-price options to increase the equity interest in CS-Interglas
are significantly higher than their fair market value and expire on December 31, 1999. The unconsolidated
net sales in 1998 for these joint ventures were in excess of $300,000.

The acquisition of the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business was completed pursuant to an Asset Purchase
Agreement dated July 25, 1998, as amended, by and among Hexcel, Stamford CS Acquisition Corp., 
and C-S (the “Asset Purchase Agreement”). Under the Asset Purchase Agreement, Hexcel acquired the 
net assets of the acquired business, other than certain excluded assets and liabilities, in exchange for 
approximately $473,000 in cash, including the $19,000 paid on December 23, 1998. The assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed or incurred were:

Estimated fair value of assets acquired:

Cash $ 5,049

Accounts receivable 20,249

Inventories 35,508

Net property, plant and equipment 70,000

Investment in joint ventures, intangibles and other assets 68,389

Goodwill 365,286

Total assets acquired $564,481

Estimated fair value of liabilities assumed or incurred:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 32,523

Capital lease obligations 50,000

Other non-current liabilities 4,139

Total liabilities assumed or incurred $ 86,662

Estimated fair value of net assets acquired $477,819

Less- cash acquired (5,049)

Net cash paid $472,770

The allocations of purchase price to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed or incurred in connection with
the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business are based on current estimates of fair values, and are subject to
change until September 15, 1999. As part of the acquisition, Hexcel entered into a $50,000 lease for 
property, plant and equipment used in the acquired business from an affiliate of C-S, pursuant to a long-
term lease which includes purchase options. Refer to Note 7 for acquisition financing. 

Acquired Ciba Business & Acquired Hercules Business
Hexcel acquired most of Ciba’s composite materials, parts and structures businesses on February 29, 1996,
Ciba’s Austrian composites business on May 30, 1996, and various remaining assets of Ciba’s worldwide
composites division at various dates through February 28, 1997. The Acquired Ciba Business is engaged in
the manufacture and marketing of reinforcement fabrics and lightweight, high-performance composite
materials, parts and structures for commercial aerospace, space and defense, general industrial and recre-
ation markets. Product lines include reinforcement fabrics, pre-impregnated fabrics (“prepregs”), structural
adhesives, honeycomb core, sandwich panels and fabricated components, as well as composite structures and
interiors primarily for the commercial and military aerospace markets.

The acquisition of the Acquired Ciba Business was consummated pursuant to a Strategic Alliance
Agreement dated as of September 29, 1995, among Ciba and Hexcel, as amended (the “Strategic Alliance
Agreement”). Under the Strategic Alliance Agreement, the company acquired the assets (including the 

Derivative Financial Instruments
The company employs an interest rate cap agreement and foreign currency forward contracts in the 
management of its interest rate and currency exposures. The company designates its interest rate cap agree-
ment against a specific debt instrument and recognizes interest differentials as adjustments to interest
expense as the differentials occur. Realized and unrealized gains and losses arising from foreign currency 
forward contracts are recognized in income as offsets to gains and losses resulting from the underlying
hedged transaction. The company does not hold financial instruments for trading purposes.

Concentration of Credit Risk
Financial instruments that potentially subject the company to significant concentrations of credit risk 
consist primarily of trade accounts receivable. The company’s sales to two customers and their related 
subcontractors accounted for approximately 46% of the company’s 1998 and 1997 net sales (see Note 16).
The company performs on-going credit evaluations of its customers’ financial condition but generally 
does not require collateral or other security to support customer receivables. The company establishes 
an allowance for doubtful accounts based on factors surrounding the credit risk of specific customers, 
historical trends and other financial information. 

Recently Issued Accounting Standard
In June 1998, SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” was issued.
SFAS 133 requires companies to record derivatives on the balance sheet as assets and liabilities, measured
at fair value. Gains or losses resulting from changes in the values of those derivatives would be accounted
for depending on the use of the derivative and whether it qualifies for hedge accounting. SFAS 133 is not
expected to have a material impact on Hexcel’s consolidated financial statements. SFAS 133 is effective for
fiscal years beginning after June 15, 1999. Hexcel will adopt this accounting standard as required by
January 1, 2000.

Reclassifications
Certain prior year amounts in the accompanying consolidated financial statements and related notes have
been reclassified to conform to the 1998 presentation.

N o t e  2  -  B u s i n e s s  A c q u i s i t i o n s

Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business
On September 15, 1998, the company acquired certain assets and assumed certain operating liabilities from
C-S. The Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business is engaged in the manufacture and sale of high-quality fiber-
glass fabrics, which are used to make printed circuit boards (“PCBs”) for electronic equipment such as 
computers, cellular telephones, televisions and automobiles. The Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business also
produces high performance specialty products for use in insulation, filtration, wall and façade claddings, 
soft body armor and reinforcements for composite materials. The Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business 
currently operates four manufacturing facilities in the southeastern U.S. and has approximately 1,300 
full time employees. As part of this acquisition, Hexcel also acquired C-S’s equity ownership interests in 
the following three joint ventures:

• a 43.6% share in CS-Interglas AG (“CS-Interglas”), headquartered in Germany, together with fixed-
price options to increase this equity interest to 84.0%. Hexcel’s acquisition of the CS-Interglas equity
interest and related options was completed on December 23, 1998; 

• a 43.3% share in Asahi-Schwebel Co., Ltd. (“Asahi-Schwebel”), headquartered in Japan, which in turn 
has its own joint venture with AlliedSignal Inc. in Taiwan; and

• a 50.0% share in Clark-Schwebel Tech-Fab Company (“CS Tech-Fab”), headquartered in the United
States.

48 49

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
IN THOUSANDS EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
IN THOUSANDS EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA



The acquisition of the satellite business and certain technologies from Fiberite on September 30, 1997 was
accounted for using the purchase method. Under this method, substantially all of the $37,000 purchase
price, less the $8,000 write-off of the acquired in-process research and technology, was allocated to intangi-
ble assets. Transaction costs in relation to the downsized transaction were not material.

Pro Forma Financial Information (Unaudited)
The pro forma net sales, net income and diluted net income per share of Hexcel for the years ended
December 31, 1998 and 1997, giving effect to the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business, as if it had occurred
at the beginning of the periods presented were:

1998 1997

Pro forma net sales $1,234,772 $1,177,059

Pro forma net income 49,494 76,336 

Pro forma diluted net income per share $1.22 $1.79 

Pro forma adjustments giving effect to the Fiberite transaction as if it occurred at the beginning of 1997
would not have had a material effect to the company’s consolidated financial statements.

N o t e  3  -  B u s i n e s s  C o n s o l i d a t i o n

In December 1998, Hexcel announced consolidation actions within its reinforcement fabrics and 
composite materials businesses. These actions included the integration of Hexcel’s existing fabrics business
with the U.S. operations of the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business, and the combination of the company’s
U.S., European and Pacific Rim composite materials businesses into a single, global business unit. 
These actions are intended to eliminate redundancies, improve manufacturing planning, and enhance 
customer service, and resulted in  the elimination of approximately 100 operating, sales, marketing and
administrative positions. As of December 31, 1998, the cost of these actions, together with a $6,400 non-
cash charge for writing down certain assets held for disposition and another $711 incurred for costs related
to a proposed acquisition that was not consummated, resulted in the recognition of $12,711 in business
acquisition and consolidation expenses. 

In 1996, Hexcel announced plans to consolidate the company’s operations over a period of three years. The
objective of the program was to integrate acquired assets and operations into Hexcel, and to reorganize the
company’s manufacturing and research activities around strategic centers dedicated to select product 
technologies. The business consolidation program was also intended to eliminate excess manufacturing
capacity and redundant administrative functions. Specific actions of the consolidation program included the
elimination of 245 manufacturing, marketing and administrative positions, the closure of the Anaheim,
California facility acquired in connection with the purchase of the Acquired Ciba Business, the reorganiza-
tion of the company’s manufacturing operations in Europe, the consolidation of the company’s U.S. special
process manufacturing activities, and the integration of sales, marketing and administrative resources.
Management expected that this consolidation program would take approximately three years to complete,
in part because of the aerospace industry requirements to “qualify” specific equipment and manufacturing
facilities for the manufacture of certain products. These qualification requirements increase the complexity,
cost and time of moving equipment and rationalizing manufacturing activities.

As of December 31, 1998, the primary remaining activities of this consolidation program relate to the 
company’s European operations and certain customer qualifications of equipment transferred within 
the U.S. The company expects that activities related to this consolidation program will be completed 
in 1999. Total expenses for this program, which remains unchanged since December 31, 1997, were
$54,700, excluding $12,973 of expenses relating to the Fiberite transaction, which were not included in 
the original program. 

capital shares of certain non-U.S. subsidiaries) and assumed the liabilities of the Acquired Ciba Business,
other than certain excluded assets and liabilities, in exchange for: (a) 18,022 newly issued shares of Hexcel
common stock; (b) $25,000 in cash; (c) senior subordinated notes in an aggregate principal amount of
$37,476 (the “Ciba Senior Subordinated Notes”), with a fair value of $34,450; and (d) senior demand notes
in an aggregate principal amount equal to the cash on hand at certain of the non-U.S. subsidiaries included
in the Acquired Ciba Business (the “Senior Demand Notes”). The total aggregate purchase price for the net
assets acquired was approximately $209,000.

Hexcel acquired the assets of the composite products division of Hercules on June 27, 1996. The Acquired
Hercules Business, which manufactures carbon fibers and prepregs for commercial aerospace, space and
defense, general industrial and recreation markets, was purchased for $139,400 in cash.

The assets acquired and the liabilities assumed or incurred were:

Acquired Acquired
Ciba Hercules

Business Business Total

Estimated fair values of assets acquired:

Accounts receivable $ 53,861 $ 16,819 $ 70,680

Inventories 65,596 22,289 87,885

Property, plant and equipment 119,446 110,611 230,057

Goodwill and other purchased intangibles 39,851 – 39,851

Prepaid pension asset 8,688 – 8,688

Other assets 3,069 642 3,711

Total assets acquired 290,511 150,361 440,872

Estimated fair values of liabilities assumed or incurred:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 62,582 7,688 70,270

Notes payable and capital lease obligations 4,743 2,774 7,517

Deferred liabilities 14,233 499 14,732

Total liabilities assumed or incurred 81,558 10,961 92,519

Estimated fair values of net assets acquired $208,953 $139,400 $348,353

Purchase price:

Cash $ 25,000 $139,400 $164,400

Senior Subordinated Notes issued to Ciba,
at aggregate fair value 34,450 – 34,450

Senior Demand Notes issued to Ciba 5,329 – 5,329

Hexcel common stock issued to Ciba,
valued at $8 per stock 144,174 – 144,174

Aggregate purchase price $208,953 $139,400 $348,353

Acquired Fiberite Assets
On September 30, 1997, the company acquired from Fiberite its satellite business consisting of intangible
assets and inventory, and certain non-exclusive worldwide rights to other prepreg technologies, for $37,000
in cash. The acquisition was substantially downsized from the original agreement whereby the company
had, subject to certain terms and conditions, committed to purchase selected assets and businesses of
Fiberite for approximately $300,000. As a result of the downsized transaction, the company wrote-off
$4,973 of acquisition and financing costs to business acquisition and consolidation expenses in 1997. 
In addition, the company expensed $8,000 of acquired in-process research and technology purchased from
Fiberite which is also included in the 1997 business acquisition and consolidation expenses.
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N o t e  5  -  P r o p e r t y, P l a n t  a n d  E q u i p m e n t

1998 1997

Land $ 22,178 $ 17,773 

Buildings 167,176 136,108

Equipment 439,179 335,035

Property, plant and equipment 628,533 488,916

Less accumulated depreciation (195,960) (157,439)

Net property, plant and equipment $ 432,573 $ 331,477

N o t e  6  -  I n v e s t m e n t  i n  A f f i l i a t e d  C o m p a n i e s  a n d  O t h e r  A s s e t s

1998 1997

Investment in affiliated companies $ 70,291 $ –

Deferred tax asset 10,503 9,901 

Deferred debt financing costs, net of accumulated amortization
of $1,773 and $2,487 as of December 31, 1998 and 1997, respectively 11,452 4,030

Prepaid pension asset 9,503 8,619

Other assets 5,408 3,325

Investment in affiliated companies and other assets $ 107,157 $ 25,875

Investment in Affiliated Companies
As part of the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business, the company acquired equity ownership interests in three
joint ventures: a 43.3% share in Asahi-Schwebel, headquartered in Japan, which in turn has its own joint
venture with AlliedSignal Inc. in Taiwan; a 43.6% share in CS-Interglas, together with fixed-price options
to increase this equity interest to approximately 84%; and a 50.0% share in CS Tech-Fab, headquartered in
the U.S. (see Note 2).

As of December 31, 1998 and 1997, Hexcel owned a 45% equity interest in DIC-Hexcel Limited (“DHL”),
a joint venture with Dainippon Ink and Chemicals, Inc. (“DIC”). This joint venture, which owns and 
operates a manufacturing facility in Komatsu, Japan, was formed in 1990 and produces and sells prepregs,
honeycomb, decorative laminates and bulk molding compounds using technology licensed from Hexcel and
DIC. In December of 1996, Hexcel and DIC reached an agreement to continue the DHL joint venture and
expand its operations. The company and DIC agreed to fund the joint venture’s operations through 1998
by each contributing an additional $3,250 in cash, payable in installments through 1998. Of this amount,
$1,250 and $2,000 was paid in 1998 and 1997, respectively. In addition, the company and DIC agreed to
contribute certain additional technology and product manufacturing rights to DHL. Under the terms of the
agreements, Hexcel remains contingently liable to pay DIC up to $4,500 with respect to DHL’s bank debt,
but the possibility that such repayment will be required has diminished as a result of the improvement in
DHL’s business prospects. As of December 31, 1998, the company’s investment in DIC is zero.

In addition to the above joint ventures, in 1998, the company reached an agreement in principle with 
the Boeing Company (“Boeing”) and Aviation Industries of China to form a joint venture, BHA Aero
Composite Parts Co., Ltd., to manufacture composite parts for secondary structures and interior applications
for commercial aircraft. This joint venture will be located in Tianjin, China. Also in 1998, the company
signed an agreement with Boeing, Sime Darby Berhad and Malaysia Helicopter Services (now known as
Naluri Berhad) to form another joint venture, Asian Composite Manufacturing Sdn. Bhd., to manufacture
composite parts for secondary structures for commercial aircraft. This joint venture will be located in Alor

Total accrued business acquisition and consolidation expenses at December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996  and
activity during the three years then ended were as follows:

Employee Fiberite &
Severance Facility & Other

and Equipment Transaction
Relocation Relocation Other Costs Total

Balance as of January 1, 1996 – – – – –

Business acquisition and
consolidation expenses $17,285 $10,488 $14,597 $ – $ 42,370

Liabilities assumed or incurred in
business acquisitions 7,104 2,497 – – 9,601

Cash expenditures (5,306) (1,109) (5,164) – (11,579)

Non-cash usage – (6,678) (8,357) – (15,035)

Balance as of December 31, 1996 19,083 5,198 1,076 – 25,357

Business acquisition and
consolidation expenses (25) 7,651 4,744 12,973  25,343

Cash expenditures (6,644) (8,771) (5,207) (12,973) (33,595)

Non-cash usage (2,759) (2,068) (105) – (4,932)

Balance as of December 31, 1997 9,655 2,010 508 – 12,173

Business acquisition and
consolidation expenses (3,225) 9,625 5,600 711 12,711

Cash expenditures (1,079) (6,353) (508) (711) (8,651)

Non-cash usage 517 (2,948) (5,600) – (8,031)

Balance as of December 31, 1998 $ 5,868 $ 2,334 $ – $ – $ 8,202

Non-cash items consist of asset write-downs and currency translation effects. Accrued business consolida-
tion costs of $8,202 and $12,173 as of December 31, 1998 and 1997, respectively, were included in 
“other accrued liabilities” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Business consolidation activities
were financed with operating cash flows and borrowings under the Senior and Revolving Credit Facilities.
In addition, in 1997, the company received $8,500 of net proceeds, which approximated book value, from
the sale of its Anaheim, California facility.

N o t e  4  -  I n v e n t o r i e s

1998 1997

Raw materials $ 90,881 $ 90,429

Work in progress 77,769 47,953

Finished goods 44,549 26,939

Inventories $ 213,199 $ 165,321
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The Senior Credit Facility is secured by a pledge of shares of certain of Hexcel’s subsidiaries. In addition, the
company is subject to various financial covenants and restrictions under the Senior Credit Facility, and is
generally prohibited from paying dividends or redeeming capital stock. Approximately $544,000 of the
Senior Credit Facility, after the issuance of the Senior Subordinated Notes, expires by September 2004, with
the balance expiring in 2005.

As a result of obtaining the Senior Credit Facility and the Amended Revolving Credit Facility (see below),
the company wrote off approximately $1,600 of capitalized debt financing costs in 1998. This amount is
included in “interest expense” in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations for 1998.

Revolving Credit Facility
In connection with the purchase of the Acquired Hercules Business in 1996, Hexcel obtained a revolving
credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility”). The Revolving Credit Facility was obtained to: (a) refinance
outstanding indebtedness under a senior secured credit facility; (b) finance the purchase of the Acquired
Hercules Business; and (c) provide for the ongoing working capital and other financing requirements of the
company, including business consolidation activities, on a worldwide basis. The Revolving Credit Facility
was amended in March 1998 (the “Amended Revolving Credit Facility”) and in September 1998, the Senior
Credit Facility replaced the Amended Revolving Credit Facility. The Amended Revolving Credit Facility,
prior to its replacement, had provided up to $355,000 of borrowing capacity and would have expired in
March 2003.

Interest on outstanding borrowings on the Amended Revolving Credit Facility depended upon certain pre-
determined ratios and other conditions and was computed at an annual rate ranging from approximately
0.3% to 1.1% in excess of the applicable London interbank rate or, at the option of Hexcel, at the base rate
of the administrative agent for the lenders. In addition, the Amended Revolving Credit Facility was subject
to a commitment fee ranging from approximately 0.2% to 0.4% per annum of the total facility. Interest 
on outstanding borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility was computed at an annual rate of 0.4% 
in excess of the applicable London interbank rate or, at the option of Hexcel, at the base rate of the 
administrative agent for the lenders. The Revolving Credit Facility was also subject to a commitment fee of
approximately 0.2% per annum on the unused portion of the facility.

European Credit and Overdraft Facilities
In addition to the Senior Credit Facility, certain of Hexcel’s European subsidiaries have access to limited
credit and overdraft facilities provided by various local lenders. These credit and overdraft facilities, which
are only available to finance certain activities by specific subsidiaries, are primarily uncommitted 
facilities that are terminable at the discretion of the lenders. The credit and overdraft facilities in use by the
company’s European subsidiaries as of December 31, 1998 and 1997, other than the Senior or Revolving
Credit Facilities, bear interest at rates between 3.0% and 6.4% per annum.

Convertible Subordinated Notes, due 2003
In July of 1996, Hexcel completed an offering of $114,500 in convertible subordinated notes, due 2003
(the “Convertible Subordinated Notes”). The Convertible Subordinated Notes carry an annual interest rate
of 7% and are convertible into Hexcel common stock at a conversion price of $15.81 per share, subject to
adjustment under certain conditions. Net proceeds of $111,351 from this offering were used to repay
amounts owed under the company’s Revolving Credit Facility.

The Convertible Subordinated Notes are redeemable beginning in August of 1999, in whole or in part, at
the option of Hexcel. The redemption prices range from 103.5% to 100.0% of the outstanding principal
amount, depending on the period in which redemption occurs. As of December 31, 1998, $65 of the
Convertible Subordinated Notes had been converted resulting in the issuance of 4 shares of common stock.

Setar, Malaysia. Products manufactured by both joint ventures will be shipped to the company’s 
Kent, Washington facility for final assembly, inspection and shipment to Boeing as well as other customers
worldwide. It is anticipated that the first parts will be delivered to customers in 2001. The company’s total
estimated financial commitment to both of these joint ventures will be approximately $31,000, which 
is expected to be made in increments through 2001. However, completion of these projects and related
investments remain subject to certain significant conditions, including foreign government approvals.

N o t e  7  -  N o t e s  P a y a b l e

1998 1997

Senior Credit Facility $ 618,214 $ –

Revolving Credit Facility – 158,267

European Credit and Overdraft Facilities 16,330 13,909

Convertible Subordinated Notes, due 2003 114,435 114,450

Convertible Subordinated Debentures, due 2011 25,625 25,625

Various notes payable 547 680

Total notes payable 755,151 312,931

Capital lease obligations (see Note 8) 54,092 5,473

Senior Subordinated Notes Payable to a related party, net of
unamortized discount of $1,801 and $2,233 as of
December 31, 1998 and 1997, respectively 35,675 34,967

Total notes payable, capital lease obligations and
indebtedness to related parties $ 864,918 $ 353,371

Notes payable and current maturities of capital lease obligations $ 26,867 $ 13,858

Long-term notes payable and capital lease obligations,
less current maturities 802,376 304,546

Indebtedness to related parties 35,675 34,967

Total notes payable, capital lease obligations and
indebtedness to related parties $ 864,918 $ 353,371

Senior Credit Facility
In connection with the acquisition of the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business (see Note 2) on September 15,
1998, Hexcel obtained the Senior Credit Facility to: (a) fund the purchase of the Acquired Clark-Schwebel
Business; (b) refinance the company’s existing revolving credit facility; and (c) provide for ongoing working
capital and other financing requirements of the company. The Senior Credit Facility, prior to the issuance 
in January 1999 of $240,000 of 9.75% Senior Subordinated Notes, due 2009 (see below), provided up 
to $910,000 of borrowing capacity, with available borrowings of $281,000 at December 31, 1998, subject
to certain loan covenants. After the issuance of the 9.75% Senior Subordinated Notes, due 2009, the bor-
rowing capacity under the Senior Credit Facility was reduced to $672,000, subject to certain loan covenants. 

Depending on certain predetermined ratios and other conditions, interest on outstanding borrowings under
the Senior Credit Facility is computed at an annual rate ranging from approximately 0.75% to 2.25% in
excess of the applicable London interbank rate, or at the option of Hexcel, at 0 to 1.25% in excess of the
base rate of the administrative agent for the lenders. In addition, the Senior Credit Facility is subject to 
a commitment fee ranging from 0.23% to 0.50% per annum of the total facility. As of December 31, 1998,
the company had an interest rate cap agreement outstanding which covers a notional amount of $50,000
of the variable rate Senior Credit Facility providing a maximum fixed rate of 5.5%. The cost of the interest
rate cap is being amortized to interest expense over the term of the contract and the unamortized amount
approximated fair value at December 31, 1998.
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Aggregate Maturities of Notes Payable and Indebtedness to Related Parties
As discussed above, on January 21, 1999, the company issued $240,000 of 9.75% Senior Subordinated
Notes, due 2009, for net proceeds of $231,000, and amended its Senior Credit Facility. In addition, on
February 17, 1999, the company repaid $12,500 of the Ciba Senior Subordinated Notes payable to CSC
with borrowings under the Senior Credit Facility. The table below reflects aggregate maturities of notes
payable and indebtedness to related parties, including the amended due dates and maturities from the above
events (see Note 8 for maturities of capital lease obligations):

Payable during years ending December 31:

1999 $ 21,983

2000 17,490

2001 20,154

2002 35,726

2003 176,000

2004 and thereafter 548,473

Total notes payable and indebtedness to related parties $ 819,826

Estimated Fair Values of Notes Payable
The Senior Credit Facility, and substantially all of the various European credit facilities and other notes
payable outstanding as of December 31, 1998 and 1997, are variable-rate debt obligations. Accordingly,
the estimated fair values of each of these debt obligations approximates their respective book values. 

The aggregate fair values of the Convertible Subordinated Notes, due 2003, and the Convertible
Subordinated Debentures, due 2011, are estimated on the basis of quoted market prices, although trading
in these debt securities is limited and may not reflect fair value. The aggregate fair value of the Convertible
Subordinated Notes, due 2003, was approximately $96,100 and $196,000 as of December 31, 1998 and
1997, respectively. The aggregate fair value of the Convertible Subordinated Debentures, due 2011, was
approximately $19,000 and $25,500 as of December 31, 1998 and 1997, respectively.

N o t e  8  -  L e a s i n g  A r r a n g e m e n t s

Assets, accumulated depreciation and related liability balances under capital leasing arrangements as of
December 31, 1998 and 1997, were:

1998 1997

Property, plant and equipment $67,191 $10,197

Less accumulated depreciation (6,593) (3,593)

Net property, plant and equipment $60,598 $ 6,604

Capital lease obligations $54,092 $ 5,473

Less current maturities (4,884) (347)

Long-term capital lease obligations, net $49,208 $ 5,126

As discussed in Note 2, Hexcel entered into a $50,000 capital lease for property, plant and equipment used
in the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business. The lease expires in September 2006 and includes various pur-
chase options. 

Certain sales and administrative offices, data processing equipment, and manufacturing facilities are leased
under operating leases. Rental expense under operating leases was $4,656 in 1998, $4,559 in 1997 and
$4,623 in 1996.

Convertible Subordinated Debentures, due 2011
The 7% convertible subordinated debentures, due 2011, are redeemable by Hexcel prior to maturity.
Mandatory redemption is scheduled to begin in 2002 through annual sinking fund requirements. 
The debentures are convertible prior to maturity into common shares of the company at $30.72 per share. 

Ciba Senior Subordinated Notes Payable
In connection with the purchase of the Acquired Ciba Business, Hexcel issued to Ciba, the Ciba Senior
Subordinated Notes in an aggregate principal amount of $37,476. Hexcel also consented to an assignment
by Ciba of Ciba’s rights and obligations under the Strategic Alliance Agreement to Ciba Speciality Chemical
Holdings Inc. and Ciba Specialty Chemicals Corporation (collectively “CSC”). In connection with the
assignment of these rights and obligations, the Ciba Senior Subordinated Notes that were previously
payable to Ciba are now payable to CSC.

The Ciba Senior Subordinated Notes are general unsecured obligations of Hexcel that bear interest for three
years at a rate of 7.5% per annum, payable semiannually from February 29, 1996. The interest rate will
increase to 10.5% per annum on the third anniversary of the purchase of the Acquired Ciba Business
(February 28, 1999), and by an additional 0.5% per year thereafter until the Ciba Senior Subordinated
Notes mature in the year 2003.

At the date of issue, the aggregate fair value of the Ciba Senior Subordinated Notes was $3,026 less 
than the aggregate principal amount. The original discount of $3,026 reflects the absence of certain call
protection provisions from the terms of the Ciba Senior Subordinated Notes and the difference between 
the stated interest rate on the Ciba Senior Subordinated Notes and the estimated market rate for debt 
obligations of comparable quality and maturity. This discount, which is amortized over the life of the Ciba
Senior Subordinated Notes, had an unamortized balance of $1,801 and $2,233 as of December 31, 1998
and 1997, respectively.

On February 17, 1999, the company repaid $12,500 of its Ciba Senior Subordinated Notes payable. 
The repayment was financed with borrowings under the company’s Senior Credit Facility. As a result of the
repayment, the company will write-off approximately $600 of the unamortized discount in 1999. 

As discussed in Note 9, Hexcel has various financial and other relationships with CSC. Accordingly, the
company’s net indebtedness to CSC under the Ciba Senior Subordinated Notes has been classified as
“indebtedness to related parties” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

9.75% Senior Subordinated Notes, due 2009
On January 21, 1999, the company issued $240,000 of 9.75% Senior Subordinated Notes, due 2009. 
Net proceeds of approximately $231,000 from this offering were used to repay amounts owed under the
Senior Credit Facility. Simultaneously with the closing of this offering, the company amended the Senior
Credit Facility to, among other things, reduce the available borrowing capacity to $672,000, modify 
certain financial covenants and to permit the offering.
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In addition, the company participates in a union sponsored multi-employer pension plan covering certain
U.S. employees with union affiliations. 

As part of the Acquired Ciba Business, the company acquired a net pension asset from a defined benefit
retirement plan covering employees of a United Kingdom subsidiary. Pursuant to the terms of the Strategic
Alliance Agreement, these employees continued to participate in a defined benefit retirement plan 
sponsored by Ciba up to January 1, 1997, at which time, the accumulated benefit obligation and net 
pension asset was valued and transferred to a newly created plan sponsored by the company. 

Under the retirement savings plans, eligible U.S. employees may contribute up to 16% of their compensa-
tion to an individual retirement savings account. Hexcel makes matching contributions equal to 50% of
employee contributions, not to exceed 3% of employee compensation. In addition, the company makes
profit sharing contributions when the company meets or exceeds certain annual performance targets. 
The net expense for these retirement savings plans was approximately $5,798 for 1998, $5,957 for 1997
and $5,396 for 1996.

Other Postretirement Benefit Plans
Hexcel provides certain postretirement health care and life insurance benefits to eligible retirees.
Substantially all U.S. employees hired on or before December 31, 1995, are eligible for benefits, as well as
senior executives and certain U.S. employees hired in connection with the Acquired Ciba Business and the
Acquired Hercules Business. The company also maintains a postretirement medical plan for its employees
hired in connection with the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business. 

Benefits are available to eligible employees who retire on or after age 58 after rendering at least 15 years of
service to Hexcel, including years of service rendered to the Acquired Ciba Business or the Acquired
Hercules Business prior to the dates of acquisition. Benefits consist of coverage of up to 50% of the annual
cost of certain health insurance plans, as well as annual life insurance coverage equal to 65% of the final
base pay of the retiree until the age of 70. Upon reaching 70 years of age, life insurance coverage is reduced. 

As part of the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business, the company assumed a defined benefit postretirement
medical plan, which covers substantially all salaried and nonsalaried employees. The plan provides medical
coverage to age 65 for employees who retire at age 62 or later, have at least 25 years of service and 
participated in the plan prior to retirement. 

The net periodic cost of Hexcel’s defined benefit retirement and U.S. postretirement plans for the years
ended December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996, were:

U.S. Plans European Plans

RETIREMENT PLANS 1998 1997 1996 1998 1997 1996

Service cost–benefits earned
during the year $ 3,314 $ 2,310 $ 2,365 $ 2,063 $ 1,933 $ 150

Interest cost on projected
benefit obligation 1,180 817 646 2,301 2,168 132

Expected return on plan assets (805) (739) (477) (4,365) (6,799) (109)

Net amortization and deferral 567 265 273 898 4,002 – 

Net periodic pension cost $ 4,256 $ 2,653 $ 2,807 $ 897 $ 1,304 $ 173

Future minimum lease payments as of December 31, 1998, were:

Type of Lease

Payable during years ending December 31: Capital Operating

1999 $ 9,038 $ 4,377

2000 8,804 3,135

2001 8,513 1,691

2002 8,513 1,100

2003 8,022 474

2004 and thereafter 29,158 2,380

Total minimum lease payments $72,048 $13,157

Total minimum capital lease payments include $17,956 of imputed interest.

N o t e  9  -  R e l a t e d  P a r t i e s

In connection with the purchase of the Acquired Ciba Business, Hexcel delivered 18,022 newly issued shares
of Hexcel common stock to Ciba, representing 49.9% of the Hexcel common stock issued and outstanding
at that date. In addition, the company and Ciba entered into the Strategic Alliance Agreement which 
currently provides for, among other things, the designation by Ciba of four of the company’s ten directors,
and the approval of a majority of these four designated directors for the taking of certain significant actions
by the company. On February 21, 1997, the company consented to an assignment by Ciba of Ciba’s rights
and obligations under the Strategic Alliance Agreement to CSC. In connection with the assignment of these
rights and obligations, all of the Hexcel common stock previously held by Ciba is now held by CSC.

As discussed in Notes 2 and 7, Hexcel delivered Ciba Senior Subordinated Notes in an aggregate principal
amount of $37,476 to Ciba in connection with the purchase of the Acquired Ciba Business. In connection
with the assignment of Ciba’s rights and obligations under the Strategic Alliance Agreement, the Senior
Subordinated Notes that were previously payable to Ciba are payable to CSC. During 1996, the company
also delivered Senior Demand Notes to Ciba in an aggregate principle amount of $5,329. The Senior
Demand Notes were presented for payment and paid in full prior to December 31, 1996. Aggregate 
interest expense on the Ciba Senior Subordinated Notes in 1998, 1997 and 1996, was $2,811, $2,762 
and $2,715, respectively.

Hexcel purchases certain raw materials from various CSC subsidiaries. The company’s aggregate purchases
from CSC subsidiaries for 1998, 1997 and 1996 were $37,717, $34,255 and $15,116, respectively.
Aggregate payables to various CSC subsidiaries included in “accounts payable” and “accrued liabilities” as
of December 31, 1998 and 1997, were $3,314 and $1,196, respectively. In addition, the company sold 
certain finished products to the affiliates of CSC (“Ciba Distributors”) pursuant to a distribution agreement,
which expired February 28, 1997. For the year ended December 31, 1998, there were no sales to Ciba
Distributors. For the years ended December 31, 1997 and 1996, aggregate sales to Ciba Distributors were
$5,620 and $32,408, respectively. As of December 31, 1998 and 1997, aggregate receivables from Ciba
Distributors were not material to the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. 

N o t e  10 – R e t i r e m e n t  a n d  O t h e r  P o s t r e t i r e m e n t  B e n e f i t  P l a n s

Retirement Plans
Hexcel maintains defined benefit retirement plans covering most U.S. and certain European employees as
well as retirement savings plans covering eligible U.S. employees. The defined benefit retirement plans are
based on years of service and employee compensation under either a career average or final pay benefits’
method. Hexcel’s funding policy is to contribute the minimum amount required by applicable regulations.
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The projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit obligation, and fair value of plan assets for pension
plans with accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets were $21,545, $18,858 and $11,545,
respectively, as of December 31, 1998 and $14,910, $13,037 and $8,343, respectively, as of December 31,
1997. In 1998, the company updated certain assumptions with respect to its European plans, resulting 
in an actuarial loss. Amortization of this loss and other prior service costs, is calculated on a straight-line
basis over the expected future years of service of the plans’ active participants. Assets for the defined 
benefit pension plans generally consist of publicly traded securities, bonds and cash investments. 

As of December 31, 1998 and 1997, the prepaid benefit cost was included in “investment in affiliated 
companies and other assets” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. For the same periods, the
accrued benefit cost was included in “accrued compensation and benefits” and “other non-current liabilities”
in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. 

Assumptions used to estimate the actuarial present value of benefit obligations as of December 31, 1998,
1997 and 1996, were:

1998 1997 1996

U.S. defined benefit retirement plans:
Discount rates 7.0% 7.0% 7.5%

Rate of increase in compensation 4.5% 4.5% 4.5%

Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 9.0% 9.0% 9.0%

European defined benefit retirement plans:
Discount rates 5.5%–5.8% 6.5%–7.0% 6.5%–7.5%

Rates of increase in compensation 1.5%–4.0% 2.0%–5.0% 2.0%–4.5%

Expected long-term rates of return on plan assets 6.5%–7.0% 6.5%–7.5% 6.5%–9.0%

Postretirement benefit plans:
Discount rates 6.8%–7.0% 7.0% 7.5%

For measurement purposes, the annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered health care benefits
were assumed at 7.5% to 10.2% for medical, and 5.0% for dental and vision for 1999. These rates were
assumed to decrease gradually to 5.5% to 8.4%, and remain at 5.0%, respectively, by the year 2002.

The table below presents the impact of a one-percentage point increase and a one-percentage point decrease
in the assumed health care cost trend on the total of service and interest cost components and on the postre-
tirement benefit obligation.

1998 1997

One-percentage point increase:
Effect on total service and interest cost components $ 67 $ 47

Effect on postretirement benefit obligation 778 608

One-percentage point decrease:
Effect on total service and interest cost components (55) (43)

Effect on postretirement benefit obligation (662) (527)

POSTRETIREMENT PLANS 1998 1997 1996

Service cost– benefits earned during the year $ 127 $ 91 $ 80

Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 691 752 701

Net amortization and deferral (318) (213) (222)

Net periodic postretirement benefit cost $ 500 $ 630 $ 559

The benefit obligation, fair value of plan assets, funded status and amounts recognized in the consolidated
financial statements, for Hexcel’s retirement plans and U.S. postretirement plans, as of and for the years
ended December 31, 1998 and 1997 were:

Retirement Plans

U.S. Plans European Plans Postretirement Plans

1998 1997 1998 1997 1998 1997

Change in benefit obligation:

Benefit obligation–beginning 
of year $ 14,910 $ 11,071 $ 32,627 $ 27,479 $ 10,836 $ 10,294

Service cost 3,314 2,310 2,063 1,933 127 91

Interest cost 1,180 817 2,301 2,168 691 752

Introduction of a new plan 1,200 – – – – –

Plan participants’ contributions – – 511 459 41 53

Plan from the Acquired Clark-
Schwebel Business – – – – 4,139 –

Actuarial loss (gain) 1,781 1,253 9,080 750 (1,927) 235

Benefits paid (840) (541) (188) (162) (526) (589)

Other – – 705 – – –

Benefit obligation–end of year $ 21,545 $ 14,910 $ 47,099 $ 32,627 $ 13,381 $ 10,836

Change in plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets-
beginning of year 8,343 5,974 44,557 36,282 – –

Actual return on plan assets 1,517 739 4,941 6,798 – –

Employer contributions 2,525 2,171 1,172 1,180 416 536

Plan participants’ contributions – – 511 459 41 53

Benefits paid (840) (541) (188) (162) (457) (589)

Other – – 705 – – –

Fair value of plan assets–
end of year $ 11,545 $ 8,343 $ 51,698 $ 44,557 $ – $ –

Funded status: 

Benefit obligation in excess
of plan assets (10,000) (6,567) 4,598 11,930 (13,420) (10,836)

Unrecognized actuarial
loss (gain) 2,369 1,436 4,905 (3,311) (549) (556)

Unrecognized net liability 126 169 – – – –

Unrecognized prior service cost 816 4 – – (4,743) (3,210)

Prepaid (accrued) benefit cost $ (6,689) $ (4,958) $ 9,503 $ 8,619 $(18,712) $(14,602)
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Deferred Income Taxes
Deferred income taxes result from temporary differences between the recognition of items for income tax
purposes and financial reporting purposes. Principal temporary differences as of December 31, 1998 and
1997, were:

1998 1997

Net operating loss carryforwards $ 19,200 $ 21,000

Reserves and other, net 24,150 31,580

Accrued business acquisition and consolidation expenses 3,000 4,380

Accelerated depreciation and amortization (14,130) (16,690)

Valuation allowance (7,300) (8,500)

Net deferred tax asset $ 24,920 $ 31,770

Net Operating Loss Carryforwards
As of December 31, 1998, Hexcel had net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards for U.S. federal 
and Belgium income tax purposes of approximately $45,000 and $4,500, respectively. The U.S. NOL 
carryforwards, which are available to offset future taxable income, expire at various dates through the year
2012. As a result of the ownership change, which occurred in connection with the purchase of the Acquired
Ciba Business, the company has a limitation on the utilization of U.S. NOL carryforwards of approximately
$12,000 per year.

N o t e  12  -  S t o c k h o l d e r s ’ E q u i t y  

Common Stock Outstanding 

NUMBER OF SHARES (IN THOUSANDS) 1998 1997 1996

Common stock: 

Balance, beginning of year 36,891 36,592 18,091

Issuance of stock to Ciba – – 18,022

Activity under stock plans and other 284 296 479

Conversion of Subordinated Notes 1 3 –

Balance, end of year 37,176 36,891 36,592

Treasury stock:

Balance, beginning of year 35 31 –

Repurchased 812 4 31

Balance, end of year 847 35 31

Common stock outstanding 36,329 36,856 36,561

In 1998, the company’s Board of Directors approved plans to repurchase up to $20,000 of the company’s
common stock. During the year ended December 31, 1998, the company repurchased 812 shares of its
common stock at an average cost of $12.32 per share, for a total of $10,000. The Board of Directors may
also approve additional stock buybacks from time to time subject to market conditions and the terms of the
company’s credit agreements and indentures.

N o t e  11 -  I n c o m e  Ta x e s  

Provision for Income Taxes 
Income (loss) before income taxes and the provision (benefit) for income taxes for the years ended December
31, 1998, 1997 and 1996, were:

1998 1997 1996

Income (loss) before income taxes:
U.S. $ 30,590 $ 24,197 $(11,956)

International 47,774 26,555 (3,798)

Total income (loss) before income taxes $ 78,364 $ 50,752 $(15,754)

Provision (benefit) for income taxes:
Current:

U.S. $ 6,352 $ 798 $ (1,600)

International 15,240 9,527 5,556

Current provision for income taxes 21,592 10,325 3,956

Deferred:
U.S. 4,662 (33,935) –

International 2,188 732 (520)

Deferred provision (benefit) for income taxes 6,850 (33,203) (520)

Total provision (benefit) for income taxes $ 28,442 $(22,878) $ 3,436

A reconciliation of the provision (benefit) to the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate of 35%, 35% and
34% for the years ended December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996, is as follows:

1998 1997 1996

Provision (benefit) at U.S. federal statutory rate $ 27,732 $ 17,763 $ (5,356)

U.S. state taxes, less federal tax benefit 807 519 21

Impact of different international tax rates,
adjustments to income tax accruals and other 1,103 18,773 (9,656)

Valuation allowance (1,200) (59,933) 18,427

Total provision (benefit) for income taxes $ 28,442 $(22,878) $ 3,436

In accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes”, in 1996 the company had fully provid-
ed valuation allowance reserves against its net deferred tax assets primarily in the U.S. and Belgium where
there were uncertainties concerning the company’s ability to generate sufficient future taxable income to
realize these assets. In 1997, the company reversed $59,900 of its valuation allowance reserve as follows:
$17,000 due to current year profitable U.S. operations, $39,000 due to the company’s assessment that the
realization of the remaining U.S. net deferred tax assets is more likely than not, and $3,900 in Belgium due
to a gain on sale of certain tangible and intangible assets to other Hexcel subsidiaries. The company con-
tinues to reserve the balance of the net deferred tax asset related to its Belgium operations.

The company has made no U.S. income tax provision for approximately $76,000 of undistributed earnings
of international subsidiaries as of December 31, 1998. Such earnings are considered to be permanently 
reinvested. The additional U.S. income tax on these earnings, if repatriated, would be offset in part by 
foreign tax credits.
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The number of options exercisable as of December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996 were 1,505, 1,193 and 841,
respectively, at a weighted average exercise price of $11.54, $9.80 and $8.64, respectively. The following
table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 1998:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted Weighted Weighted
Number of Average Average Number of Average

Range of Options Remaining Exercise Options Exercise
Exercise Prices Outstanding Life (in Years) Price Exercisable Price

$ 4.18 – 4.75 173 5.9 $ 4.58 120 $ 4.75

$ 4.76 –10.00 907 8.8 $ 8.10 252 $ 6.41

$10.01–15.00 3,322 8.9 $12.17 900 $12.46

$15.01–20.00 550 7.9 $16.58 226 $16.62

$20.01–24.00 141 9.0 $23.98 – –

$24.01–30.00 20 9.3 $26.95 7 $26.95

$30.01–32.06 2 8.2 $30.49 – $30.68

$ 4.18 –32.06 5,115 8.7 $12.05 1,505 $11.54

Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”)
In July 1997, the company established an ESPP to provide eligible employees an additional opportunity to
share in the ownership of Hexcel. The maximum number of common stock reserved for issuance under the
ESPP is 200. Under the ESPP, eligible employees may contribute up to 10% of their base earnings toward
the quarterly purchase of the company’s common stock at a purchase price equal to 85% of the fair market
value of the common stock on the purchase date. During 1998, approximately 36 common stock were
issued under the ESPP.

Pro Forma Disclosures
The company has elected to continue to follow APB Opinion No. 25 for accounting for its stock-based
incentive plans. Had compensation expense for the company’s stock option plans been determined as 
prescribed by SFAS 123, pro forma net income (loss) and related per share amounts, would have been 
as follows:

1998 1997 1996

Net income (loss):
As reported $ 50,439 $ 73,630 $(19,190)

Pro forma 48,172 67,355 (19,233)

Basic net income (loss) per share:
As reported $ 1.38 $ 2.00 $ (0.58)

Pro forma 1.31 1.83 (0.58)

Diluted net income (loss) per share:
As reported $ 1.24 $ 1.74 $ (0.58)

Pro forma 1.19 1.60 (0.58)

The weighted average fair value of options granted during 1998, 1997 and 1996 was $12.23, $18.24 and
$12.75, respectively. The following ranges of assumptions were used in the Black-Scholes pricing models for
options granted in 1998, 1997 and 1996: risk-free interest of 4.6% to 6.3%, estimated volatility of 40% to
51%, dividend yield of 0.0%, and an expected life of 1 to 10 years.

Stock-Based Incentive Plans
The company has various stock option and management incentive plans for eligible employees, officers,
directors and consultants. These plans provide for awards in the form of stock options, stock appreciation
rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, and other stock-based awards. Options to purchase common
stock are generally granted at the fair market value on the date of grant. Substantially all of these options
have a ten-year term and generally vest over a 3-year period. In 1998 and 1997, Hexcel’s stockholders
approved various amendments to the company’s stock-based incentive plans, which increased the aggregate
number of stock issuable under these plans by 4,500 to 7,350. 

As of December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996, the company had outstanding a total of 518, 353 and 286, 
of performance accelerated restricted stock units (“PARS”), respectively. PARS are convertible to an equal
number of shares of Hexcel common stock and generally vest in increments through 2005, subject
to certain terms of employment and other circumstances which may accelerate the vesting period. As of
December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996, 301, 286, and 0 PARS were vested, respectively. Approximately
$1,660, $3,272 and $529 of compensation expense was recognized in 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively,
with respect to the PARS and certain other stock-based incentive plans.

In addition to the above, during 1996, the company recognized $3,635 of compensation expense under the
intrinsic value method resulting from stock options which vested in connection with the purchase of the
Acquired Ciba Business. This compensation expense was based on the difference between the exercise price
of the stock options granted and the market price of Hexcel common stock on the date that the company’s
stockholders approved the Incentive Stock Plan under which these options were granted. The recognition
of compensation expense in connection with these stock options resulted in a corresponding $3,635 increase
in the additional paid-in capital of the company.

Stock option data for the three years ended December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996, were:

Weighted
Number Average

of Exercise
Options Price

Options outstanding at January 1, 1996 1,014 $ 7.27

Options granted 1,577 $12.69

Options exercised (447) $ 9.40

Options expired or canceled (85) $11.45

Options outstanding at December 31, 1996 2,059 $10.36

Options granted 3,094 $18.24

Options exercised (289) $ 9.64

Options expired or canceled (25) $15.51

Options outstanding at December 31, 1997 4,839 $15.39

Options granted 3,253 $12.23

Options exercised (237) $ 8.53

Options expired or canceled ( 2,740) $18.52

Options outstanding at December 31, 1998 5,115 $12.05
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Pursuant to the New Jersey Environmental Responsibility and Clean-Up Act, Hexcel signed an adminis-
trative consent order to pay for the environmental remediation of a manufacturing facility it owns and for-
merly operated in Lodi, New Jersey. The company’s estimate of the remaining cost to satisfy this consent
order is accrued in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The ultimate cost of remediating the Lodi
site will depend on developing circumstances.

In connection with the purchase of the Acquired Ciba Business, Hexcel assumed various liabilities includ-
ing a liability with respect to certain environmental remediation activities at an acquired facility in Kent,
Washington. The company was a party to a cost sharing agreement regarding the operation of certain envi-
ronmental remediation systems necessary to satisfy a post-closure care permit issued to a previous owner of
the Kent site by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Under the terms of the cost sharing agreement,
the company was obligated to reimburse the previous owner for a portion of the cost of the required reme-
diation activities. The company has determined that the cost sharing agreement terminated on December
22, 1998, however, the other party disputes this determination. The company’s estimate of other costs asso-
ciated with the cleanup of the Kent site are accrued in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Product Claims
In 1993, Hexcel became aware of an aluminum honeycomb sandwich panel delamination problem with
panels produced by its wholly-owned Belgium subsidiary, Hexcel Composites S.A., and installed in rail cars
in France and Spain. Two customers alleged that Hexcel Composites S.A. was responsible for the problem.
In 1998, the company negotiated a settlement to be paid in 1999 with one customer and the company
expects to settle with the remaining customer in 1999. The company’s estimated liability for this matter is
accrued in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

N o t e  15 – S u p p l e m e n t a l  C a s h  F l o w  I n f o r m a t i o n

Supplemental cash flow information, including non-cash financing and investing activities, for the years
ended December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996, consist of the following: 

1998 1997 1996

Cash paid for:
Interest $ 28,774 $ 22,300 $ 14,061

Taxes 26,359 3,929 8,911

Non-cash items:
Debt issued in connection with the Acquired Ciba Business – – 37,231

Common stock issued in connection with the Acquired
Ciba Business – – 144,174

Common stock issued under incentive plans 1,874 3,272 529

Conversion of Senior Subordinated Notes 15 50 –

Compensation expense in connection with the issuance 
of common stock (see Note 12) – – 3,635

Capital lease obligation in connection with the 
Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business 50,000 – –

N o t e  13  -  N e t  I n c o m e  ( L o s s )  P e r  S h a r e  

Computations of basic and diluted net income (loss) per share for the years ended December 31, 1998, 1997
and 1996, are as follows:

1998 1997 1996

Basic net income (loss) per share:

Net income (loss) $ 50,439 $ 73,630 $(19,190)

Weighted average common shares outstanding 36,675 36,748 33,351

Basic net income (loss) per share $ 1.38 $ 2.00 $ (0.58) 

Diluted net income (loss) per share:

Net income (loss) $ 50,439 $ 73,630 $(19,190)

Effect of dilutive securities–
Senior Subordinated Notes, due 2003 5,087 5,087 –

Senior Subordinated Debentures, due 2011 1,139 1,139 –

Adjusted net income (loss) $ 56,665 $ 79,856 $(19,190)

Weighted average common shares outstanding 36,675 36,748 33,351

Effect of dilutive securities–
Stock options 924 1,176 –

Senior Subordinated Notes, due 2003 7,238 7,239 –

Senior Subordinated Debentures, due 2011 834 834 –

Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding 45,671 45,997 33,351

Diluted net income (loss) per share $ 1.24 $ 1.74 $ (0.58) 

The Convertible Subordinated Notes, due 2003, which were issued in 1996, and the Convertible
Subordinated Debentures, due 2011, were excluded from the 1996 computation of diluted net loss per share
as they were antidilutive. Substantially all of the company’s stock options were included in the calculation
of the diluted earnings per share for the years ended December 31, 1998 and 1997.

N o t e  14  -  C o n t i n g e n c i e s

Hexcel is involved in litigation, investigations and claims arising out of the conduct of its business, includ-
ing those relating to commercial transactions, and environmental, health and safety matters. The company
estimates and accrues its liabilities resulting from such matters based on a variety of factors, including out-
standing legal claims and proposed settlements, assessments by internal and external counsel of pending or
threatened litigation, and assessments by environmental engineers and consultants of potential environ-
mental liabilities and remediation costs. Such estimates exclude counterclaims against other third parties.
Such estimates are not discounted to reflect the time value of money due to the uncertainty in estimating
the timing of the expenditures, which may extend over several years. Although it is impossible to determine
the level of future expenditures for legal, environmental and related matters with any degree of certainty, it
is the company’s opinion, based on available information, that it is unlikely that these matters, individual-
ly or in the aggregate, will have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial position, results of
operations or cash flows of the company.

Legal and Environmental Claims and Proceedings
Hexcel has been named as a potentially responsible party with respect to several hazardous waste disposal
sites that it does not own or possess which are included on the Superfund National Priority List of the U.S.
Environmental Protection Agency or on equivalent lists of various state governments. The company believes
that it has limited or no liability for cleanup costs at these sites and intends to vigorously defend itself in
these matters.
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Hexcel evaluates performance based on adjusted income before business acquisition and consolidation
(“BA&C”) expenses, interest and taxes (“Adjusted EBIT”), and generally accounts for intersegment 
sales based on arm’s length prices. Corporate and other expenses are not allocated to the operating 
segments. The following table presents financial information on the company’s operating segments as of
December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996, and for the years then ended:

Reinforcement Composite Engineered
Products Materials Products Total

1998

Net sales to external customers $224,815 $653,484 $210,745 $1,089,044
Intersegment sales 130,288 11,807 50 142,145
Total sales 355,103 665,291 210,795 1,231,189

Adjusted EBIT 57,433 87,126 16,009 160,568
Depreciation and amortization 23,558 17,106 3,669 44,333
Equity in earnings of affiliated companies 517 – – 517
BA&C expenses 1,645 3,171 5,500 10,316

Segment assets 788,445 423,183 133,715 1,345,343
Investment in non-consolidated affiliates 70,291 – – 70,291
Capital expenditures 21,137 33,168 9,324 63,629
BA&C payments 598 7,141 – 7,739
1997

Net sales to external customers 171,072 577,118 188,665 936,855

Intersegment sales 124,736 16,710 – 141,446

Total sales 295,808 593,828 188,665 1,078,301

Adjusted EBIT 40,399 84,151 14,702 139,252

Depreciation and amortization 13,791 16,594 2,958 33,343

BA&C expenses 1,707 9,579 – 11,286

Segment assets 221,335 413,043 128,678 763,056

Capital expenditures 23,360 22,617 8,399 54,376

BA&C payments 2,849 16,796 – 19,645

1996

Net sales to external customers 155,231 438,220 101,800 695,251

Intersegment sales 57,168 7,609 23 64,800

Total sales 212,399 445,829 101,823 760,051

Adjusted EBIT 25,806 44,604 2,889 73,299

Depreciation and amortization 8,877 13,022 2,455 24,354

BA&C expenses 1,699 27,998 – 29,697

Segment assets 227,415 350,218 118,383 696,016

Capital expenditures 21,569 15,056 3,883 40,508

BA&C payments $ 1,555 $ 6,456 $ – $ 8,011

N o t e  16  -  S e g m e n t  I n f o r m a t i o n

The financial results for Hexcel’s operating segments have been prepared using a management approach,
which is consistent with the basis and manner in which Hexcel management internally segregates financial
information for the purposes of assisting in making internal operating decisions. Hexcel’s operating seg-
ments and related products, are as follows:

REINFORCEMENT PRODUCTS: This segment manufactures and sells carbon fibers and carbon, glass and aramid
fiber fabrics. These reinforcement products comprise the foundation of most composite materials, parts and
structures. The segment weaves electronic fiberglass fabrics that are a substrate for PCBs. All of the 
company’s electronic sales come from reinforcement fabric sales. This segment also sells products for 
general industrial and recreation applications such as decorative blinds and soft body armor. In addition, 
this segment sells to the company’s Composite Materials segment and other third party customers in the
commercial aerospace and space and defense markets. Sales from the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business are
included in this segment.

COMPOSITE MATERIALS: This segment manufactures and sells composite materials, including prepregs, honey-
comb, structural adhesives, sandwich panels and specially machined honeycomb parts, primarily to the 
commercial aerospace and space and defense markets, as well as to the general industrial and recreational
markets. This segment also sells to the company’s Engineered Products segment.

ENGINEERED PRODUCTS: This segment manufactures and sells a range of lightweight, high strength composite
structures and interiors, primarily to the commercial aerospace and space and defense markets.
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Geographic Data
Sales and long-lived assets, by geographic area, consisted of the following for the three years ended
December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996:

1998 1997 1996

NET SALES TO EXTERNAL CUSTOMERS:

United States $ 687,566 $598,555 $394,524

International
France 178,878 165,738 151,638

United Kingdom 65,999 49,395 48,172

Other 156,601 123,167 100,917

Total international 401,478 338,300   300,727

Total consolidated net sales 1,089,044 936,855 695,251

LONG-LIVED ASSETS:

United States 831,382 304,191 266,191

International
France 42,155 37,313 42,661

United Kingdom 46,428 43,123 41,444

Other 31,689 30,008 34,509

Total international 120,272 110,444 118,614

Total consolidated long-lived assets $ 951,654 $414,635 $384,805

Net sales are attributed to geographic areas based on the location in which the sale originated. U.S. net sales
include U.S. exports to non-affiliates of $99,976, $70,875 and $53,333, for the years ended December 31,
1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively. Long-lived assets primarily consist of property, plant and equipment,
intangibles, investments in affiliated companies and other assets, less long-term deferred tax assets.

Significant Customers
To the extent that the end application of net sales can be identified, the Boeing Company and their 
subcontractors accounted for approximately 35%, 36% and 22% of 1998, 1997 and 1996 net sales, respec-
tively. Similarly, the Airbus Industrie consortium and their subcontractors accounted for approximately 
11%, 10%, and 10%, of 1998, 1997 and 1996 net sales, respectively.

Reconciliation of Reportable Segments to Consolidated Totals 
Reconciliations of the totals reported for the operating segments to the applicable line items in the consol-
idated financial statements are as follows: 

1998 1997 1996

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES:

Total Adjusted EBIT for reportable segments $ 160,568 $139,252 $ 73,299 

Less:
Total BA&C expenses for reportable segments 10,316 11,286 29,697 

Corporate BA&C expenses 2,395 14,057 12,673 

Total consolidated BA&C expenses 12,711 25,343 42,370 

Corporate & other expenses 30,818 33,338 25,125 

Interest expense 38,775 25,705 21,537 

Other income – – (2,994)

Eliminations (100) 4,114 3,015 

Consolidated income (loss) before income taxes 78,364 50,752 (15,754)

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION:

Total depreciation and amortization for reportable segments 44,333 33,343 24,354

Corporate depreciation and amortization 3,121 2,454 2,376

Total consolidated depreciation and amortization 47,454 35,797 26,730

ASSETS:

Total assets for reportable segments 1,345,343 763,056 696,016

Corporate assets 96,376 86,381 44,670

Eliminations (37,558) (37,851) (38,950)

Total consolidated assets 1,404,161 811,586 701,736

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES:

Total capital expenditures for reportable segments 63,629 54,376 40,508

Corporate expenditures 2,901 2,993 3,061

Total consolidated capital expenditures 66,530 57,369 43,569

BA&C PAYMENTS:

Total BA&C payments for reportable segments 7,739 19,645 8,011

Corporate BA&C payments 912 13,950 3,568

Total consolidated BA&C payments $ 8,651 $ 33,595 $ 11,579
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N o t e  17  -  Q u a r t e r l y  F i n a n c i a l  D a t a  ( U n a u d i t e d )

Quarterly financial data for the years ended December 31, 1998 and 1997, were:

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

1998

Net sales $256,741 $273,537 $255,303 $303,463
Gross margin 66,096 71,221 61,847 72,095
Business acquisition and

consolidation expenses – – (711) (12,000)
Operating income 33,736 38,156 27,563 17,584
Net income 17,070 19,978 11,498 1,893
Net income per share:

Basic $ 0.46 $ 0.54 $ 0.31 $ 0.05
Diluted 0.40 0.46 0.29 0.05

Dividends per share – – – –
Market price:

High $ 28.13 $ 31.38 $ 24.38 $ 14.19
Low 21.25 22.63 9.69 7.06

1997

Net sales $ 214,009 $ 241,629 $ 226,611 $ 254,606

Gross margin 46,889 57,818 54,967 62,958

Business acquisition and
consolidation expenses (2,899) (2,818) (15,433) (4,193)

Operating income 16,384 24,516 9,331 26,226

Net income 8,226 15,135 37,948 12,321

Net income per share:
Basic $ 0.22 $ 0.41 $ 1.03 $ 0.33

Diluted 0.22 0.38 0.87 0.30

Dividends per share – – – –

Market price:
High $ 21.38 $ 20.00 $ 30.25 $ 31.75 

Low 16.00 16.38 18.75 22.25

Results for the quarters ended September 30, 1998 and December 31, 1998, include the results of the
Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business, which was acquired on September 15, 1998. The Acquired Clark-
Schwebel Business had net sales and operating income of $7,000 and $400, and $51,400 and $7,200, for
the quarters ended September 30, 1998 and December 31, 1998, respectively. For the nine months ended
September 30, 1997, except for the $39,000 reversal of the U.S. tax valuation allowance reserve on
September 30, 1997, there was no net federal tax provision recorded on the company’s U.S. income. 
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